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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Qi-House Holdings
Limited (the “Company ") collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

To our Shareholders

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Our Group engages in (i) the sale, distribution and rental of furniture and home
accessories; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights;
(iii) the operation of TREE Café at the Group's flagship store in Hong Kong; (iv)
the provision of styling and consulting services; (v) the provision of furniture
agency services; (vi) the provision of consumer loan services; and (vii) the
provision of software and information technology services.

After nineteen years of being established in Hong Kong, TREE Limited is one
of the leading lifestyle furniture and home furnishing companies in Hong Kong,
operating under the brand name “TREE".

Hong Kong ltaliving International Co. Limited (“Italiving”) is principally
engaged in the sourcing and distribution of high-end Italian furniture made in
Italy. Super Easy Finance Limited (“Super Easy”) is principally engaged in the
provision of consumer loan services. Hefei Qijia Supply Chain Technology Co.,
Ltd. (& B 25 3 {4 /B $8 3 15 5 BR 2 B ") (“Hefei Qijia”) and its subsidiary
are principally engaged in the provision of software and information technology
services.

The general market conditions and the operating environment has been
extremely challenging in 2023/2024. Qur furniture retail business in Hong Kong
are most affected by the property market and the retail market which have both
experienced a significant downturn during the year.

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Beard”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of Qi-House Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2024 ("FY2024").

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For FY2024, the total revenue of the Group was approximately HK$65.0
million, a decrease of approximately HK$13.2 million, mainly attributable to
a decrease in commission income and a decrease in the sale of furniture and
home accessories. The overall gross profit margin of the Group decreased from
approximately 66.0% to 64.4%.

Impairment profit warning

Amidst all these challenges, we report that the Group has recorded a loss for
the year attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$8.6
million, after a negative impairment of goodwill of approximately HK$8.7 million
arising from the previous acquisition of Italiving in 2018. The net profit from last
year was approximately HK$4.7 million (Restated).

The Company does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
FY2024 (FY2023: Nil).
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THE FUTURE

While | am writing this statement we are still operating within a challenging
environment due to the current global economic conditions. It is therefore
difficult, given the uncertainty to predict the market sentiment, and our industry
continues to be challenged with highly competitive retail market conditions
with many retailers relying on heavy discounting to generate retail sales.

The Management is executing various measures to reduce the operating loss
of retail business in Hong Kong, and will consider available options to minimize
loss and improve the financial results.

THE FINAL NOTE

The Group is proud of the TREE brand that was founded in Hong Kong and has
grown with heart and integrity over the last nineteen years.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank all staff members of the Group,
our suppliers, partners and, of course, our customers for their continuous
support.

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
21 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we engage in (i) the sale, distribution and rental
of furniture and home accessories which is operating under the brand name
“TREE"; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights of
“TREE"; {iii) the operation of TREE Café in our flagship store in Ap Lei Chau
(the “Flagship Store”); (iv) the provision of furniture agency services; (v) the
provision of styling and consulting services; (vi) the provision of consumer
loan services; and (vii) the provision of software and information technology
Services.

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store in addition to online
sales. We have commenced online sales since May 2019. The management
is executing various measures to reduce the operating loss of retail business
in Hong Kong, including but not limited to discussing rental reduction with
landlord, scale down the retail sales space, identifying more efforts in
online business operating and innovative strategies to optimize rental cost
expenditures. We offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables, chairs, storage
solutions, sofas and beds; and (b) home accessories including kitchenware,
bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses, utensils and
baskets.

In addition, we acquired lItaliving in December 2018, which is principally
engaged in the provision of a furniture agency service in Hong Kong. In January
2022, we acquired Super Easy, which is principally engaged in the provision of
consumer loan services.

We started a new business by setting up a new wholly-foreign owned
enterprise named Hefei Qijia in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") in
January 2024, which is principally engaged in the provision of software and
information technology services.

In March 2024, Hefei Qijia acquired Hefei Human Vision Technology Co., Ltd.
("ERTAABRBREMAR2AT") ("Hefei Human Vision"), which is
principally engaged in the provision of software and information technology
services.

During FY2024, we generated revenue from the (i) sale of furniture and home
accessories; (i) operation of TREE Café; (iii) provision of furniture agency
services; (iv) provision of styling and consulting services; and (v) provision
of furniture rental services. The table below sets forth a breakdown of our
revenue for FY2024 and for the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023"):
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Year ended 31 March

B ZE3R3BLLEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FE T FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers BEEAHWE
Sale of furniture and home accessories RERRERHEE 57,414 69,398
Food and beverage income Bk mBA 3,656 3,374
Commission income A& WA 3,845 5,306
64,915 78,078

Revenue from other sources H 3R R UK &=
Rental income el A 50 116
64,965 78,194
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEER WA

For FY2024, our revenue amounted to approximately HK$65.0 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$13.2 million or 16.9% from
approximately HK$78.2 million for FY2023. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to a decrease in the sale of furniture and home accessories and a

decrease in commission income.

Sale of furniture and home accessories

TREE primarily sells its products to (i) retail customers who visited our retail
stores; and (i) customers who placed orders via our online platform being the
direct sales in Hong Kong. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our
sale of furniture and home accessories for FY2024 and FY2023, respectively.

R20248 B FE - BHPIH UK &= 4 B6L0E B8
TC 0 B0 FE 47828 BB T A 401328
BETH69%  TERARRARKEA M

EURMERATR D PTE

BARRELREMES

TREEXZHERETIABERMTEENTER
B RipEBHRMNBLEFATETENTP
BIEANEEREE - TREATI20288 B FE R
023 R FEMERA M RE RS HSHA -

Year ended 31 March

BZ3ANALEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
% of total % of total
revenue from revenue from
sale of furniture sale of furniture
and home and home
Revenue accessories Revenue accessories
HEEHREA HHERE
ES=T- &K JE B &
FEN &) B
W = BoL W &= Bt
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FExT Bt FET Eksd
Direct sales in Hong Kong EEANEEHE
Retail store!! TERN 53,633 93.4 64,631 931
Online sales and non-retail sales 43 - $5 & &
FTEWHE 2,685 4.7 3,590 5.2
Sub-total NEF 56,318 98.1 68,221 98.3
Distribution sales DHEE 1,096 19 1177 17
Total st 57,414 100.0 69,398 100.0
Notes: =
1) Our retail stores include our Flagship Store, Sha Tin store and pop-up store. ) TEEREEEE D BERRAEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

For FY2024, revenue generated from direct sales was approximately HK$56.3
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$11.9 million or 17.4% from
approximately HK$68.2 million for FY2023.

For FY2024, revenue generated from distribution sales amounted to
approximately HK$1.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.1
million or 6.9% from approximately HK$1.2 million for FY2023.

Food and beverage income

The Group's food and beverage income generated from operating TREE Café in
our Flagship Store was approximately HK$3.7 million for FY2024, representing
an increase of approximately HK$0.3 million or 8.4% from approximately
HK$3.4 million for FY2023. The increase is due to no longer having the covid
restrictions in place which hindered our operations.

Commission income

The Group's commission income comprised of income generated from the
furniture agency service by ltaliving and the sale of consignment goods
of approximately HK$3.8 million for FY2024, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$1.5 million or 27.5% from approximately HK$5.3 million for
FY2023. The decrease was mainly due to the drop of retail sales affected by the
poor economic sentiment in the Mainland China.

Rental income

The Group's rental income comprised of income generated from the provision of
furniture rental services was approximately HK$50,000 and HK$0.1 million for
FY2024, and FY2023, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to less rental
services during FY2024, stemming from a drop in customer requirements for
such services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased to approximately HK$65.0 million for FY2024
from approximately HK$78.2 million for FY2023, representing a decrease of
approximately 16.9%. Such decrease was mainly due to a decrease in the sale
of furniture and home accessories and a decrease in commission income.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s overall gross profit decreased to approximately HK$41.9 million for
FY2024 from approximately HK$51.6 million for FY2023. The overall gross profit
margin dropped to approximately 64.4% for FY2024 from approximately 66.0%
for FY2023.

The Group’s gross profit margin for the sale of furniture and home accessories
dropped to approximately 61.9% for FY2024 from approximately 63.7% for
FY2023. Distribution sales raised to approximately 47.4% for FY2024 from
approximately 44.8% for FY2023.

The Group's gross profit margin for the sale of food and beverages was
increased to approximately 73.2% for FY2024 from approximately 69.3% for
FY2023.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses mainly comprise (i) depreciation
of right-of-use assets; (ii) staff costs attributable to the salary of our staff
engaged in selling and marketing activities; (iii) marketing expenses; (iv)
payment gateway charges attributable to fees for our payment channels such
as credit cards or EPS; and (v) electricity and water expenses.

The Group's selling and marketing expenses amounted to approximately
HK$30.4 million for FY2024, representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.7
million or approximately 5.3% from approximately HK$32.1 million (Restated)
for FY2023. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in staff costs of
approximately HK$1.5 million.

BEER WA

Bt % [0 R

Uy &

A 55 | B W g 1202381 BAF R 4978.28 & B T
D 202481 BUF [E 4965.08 & B T 0 R 18 4
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MR W AR D -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses mainly comprised (i) staff costs for
our administrative staff and Directors’ emoluments; (i) professional fees
which included legal fees, consultancy fees and auditor’s remuneration; (iii)
travel expenses; (iv) office expenses; (v) depreciation of our property, plant
and equipment, and amortisation of our intangible assets; (vi) repairs and
maintenance for our trucks and retail stores; (vii) insurance expenses which
included business insurance, vehicle insurance and medical insurance; (viii)
recruitment expenses which included fees to the recruitment agents and
advertisements on websites; (ix) bank charges; (x) handling fee; and (xi) others
which included motor vehicle expenses, net foreign exchange losses and
entertainment expenses.

For FY2024, the Group's administrative expenses amounted to approximately
HK$25.7 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$3.2 million or
13.8% from approximately HK$22.5 million for FY2023. Such increase was
mainly due to (i) the increase of general operating expenses in Super Easy of
approximately HK$2.0 million; and (i) the increase in legal and professional fees
of approximately HK$0.9 million.

Provision for impairment of goodwill

As at 31 March 2024, after the recognition of a non-cash impairment of
goodwill of approximately HK$8.7 million (FY2023: approximately HK$14.7
million), the carrying value of cash-generating unit of furniture agency
services, i.e. Italiving has been fully written off. For the details of provision for
impairment of goodwill, please refer to note 15 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statement on page 127.

Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
and loan receivables, net

As at 31 March 2024, the provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables and loan receivables, net amounted to approximately HK$0.3
million. For the details please refer to note 18 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements on page 129.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly comprised of interest expenses on interest-bearing
borrowings and finance charges on lease liabilities. Finance costs increased by
approximately HK$0.9 million or 109.4% from approximately HK$0.8 million for
FY2023 to approximately HK$1.7 million for FY2024. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in bank borrowings and increase in the effective interest
rate as compared to FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Income

Other income for the Group decreased by approximately HK$1.3 million or
13.7% to approximately HK$7.8 million for FY2024 from approximately HK$9.1
million for FY2023. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in government
grants of approximately HK$1.5 million.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group decreased to approximately HK$0.2 million
for FY2024 from approximately HK$0.8 million (Restated) for FY2023. The
decrease was mainly due to the increase of loss before income tax.

Loss for the year
The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$17.3 million for FY2024
compared to a loss of approximately HK$10.0 million (Restated) for FY2023.

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Inventories

The Group's inventories consisted of finished goods and goods in transit
which we purchased from our suppliers. The inventories balance decreased
to approximately HK$11.8 million as at 31 March 2024 from approximately
HK$14.3 million as at 31 March 2023.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's trade receivables consisted of trade receivables from customers
and payment vendors. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, our trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$39.9 million and HK$29.8 million, respectively.
The increase of approximately HK$10.1 million was mainly due to a higher trade
receivable turnover days from the business of furniture agency services and
software and information services as compared to FY2023.

The Group's other receivables consisted of interest receivables, rental deposits,
utilities deposits, trade deposits, prepayments, and prepayment to a related
company. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, our other receivables amounted to
approximately HK$11.9 million and HK$8.9 million, respectively. The increase of
approximately HK$3.0 million was mainly due to the increase in prepayment to
suppliers.

Loan receivables

The Group’s loan receivables consisted of loan receivables from customers. As
at 31 March 2024 and 2023, our loan receivables amounted to approximately
HK$14.6 million and HK$10.5 million, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s non-current portion of loan receivables
amounted to approximately HK$0.2 million (FY2023: approximately HK$0.2
million). The Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of loan
receivables by taking into account of the market conditions, customers’ profiles
including any significant changes in the payment status of the borrowers and
quality of third-party guarantees to ensure that adequate impairment is made
for the irrecoverable amounts.

During FY2024, a loan impairment of approximately HK$0.3 million (FY2023:
approximately HK$35,000) was recognized for the loan receivables.

During FY2024, the Group granted 29 personal loans and 7 corporate revolving
loan (FY2023: 91 personal loans). None of the individual or corporate customers
are associated companies, joint ventures or connected persons of the Group.
The Group identifies prospective customers through sales referral agents,
referral of existing loan customers and the network of its management and
staff.

Prospective borrowers are subject to credit verification procedures, including
our assessment on their credit worthiness of the customers basing on credit
ratings report, their background and occupation, their financial situation, history
of default and other factors such as personal guarantors and asset ownership.

The loans offered have tenor ranges between 3 to 60 months, with most of
the loans averaging 12 months or less. During FY2024, Super Easy granted 36
loans that have tenor of 9 to 12 months. The interest rate for the loans granted
ranges from 7.5% to 48% per annum, whilst the interest rate charged and the
amount of collateral required (if required) for each loan depends on the risk of
default expected.

Credit Approval, Monitoring and Controls

In managing credit risk, it is Super Easy’s policy that all potential loan
customers who wish to obtain loans from Super Easy shall be reviewed by
the head of the Credit Department. The head of the Credit Department will
prepare a report to summarise all available data such as information from the
TransUnion Credit Report, including history of default, background of the loan
customer and other publicly available information, and propose the loan terms
such as loan amount, interest rate and loan tenor. The management of Super
Easy will then review the report and approve the loan.

Subsequently, the recoverability of the loan receivables will be monitored on an
ongoing basis by the head of the Credit Department. In assessing the possibility
of recovering the loan receivables, information such as (i) historical payment
records e.g., timely settlement of loan interest or loan principal amounts on
the due dates; (ii) the length of the overdue period; and (i) any foreseeable
changes in the economic environment that would significantly deteriorating
the borrower’s ability to meet its obligation. This will be done on an ongoing
basis to decide whether any follow-up action should be taken to avoid potential
exposure to recoverability problems.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Super Easy considers that both quantitative and qualitative information are
essential for the determination of credit risk, and the determination factors
may include historical and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. By considering all these factors, it is the view
of the management of Super Easy that the credit risk of the business can be
significantly reduced.

During FY2024, the grant of loans in relation to money lending business has
timely complied with all the relevant requirements under Chapters 19 and 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules including the size test and disclosure requirements.

Bank balance and cash

Bank balance and cash include cash at bank and in hand. As at 31 March 2024
and 2023, our bank balance and cash amounted to approximately HK$12.2
million and HK$9.5 million, respectively. For the details of cash movement,
please refer to the consolidated statement of cash flows on page 67.

Trade and other payables

The Group's trade payables consisted of trade payables to suppliers in relation
to the purchase of goods. There were no credit periods granted by our suppliers.
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, our trade payables amounted to approximately
HK$18.6 million and HK$11.8 million, respectively.

The Group’s other payables comprised accrued charges, consideration payable
which represent the unpaid cash consideration for the acquisition of Italiving,
and provision for long service payments. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, our
other payables amounted to approximately HK$13.1 million and HK$9.9 million
(Restated), respectively. The increase was mainly due to the increase in the
accrued charges and other payables of approximately HK$3.2 million.

Contract liabilities

The Group's contract liabilities mainly represented unrecognised revenue from
customers where delivery of products is required and pending. As at 31 March
2024 and 2023, our contract liabilities amounted to approximately HK$7.0
million and HK$5.9 million, respectively. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in advance payments from customers.

Bank borrowings
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, our Group recorded bank borrowings of
approximately HK$20.3 million and HK$6.5 million, respectively.

Lease liabilities

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group recorded lease liabilities of
approximately HK$12.5 million and HK$12.9 million, respectively. Such
decrease was due to the less renewed leases and decrease of rental payments
during FY2024. As at 31 March 2024, our Group has entered into leases for
warehouse, office, shop premises, motor vehicles.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$106.8
million, which is financed by total liabilities and Shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$71.5 million and HK$35.3 million, respectively. The
Group's current ratio at 31 March 2024 was approximately 1.4 compared to
approximately 1.8 (Restated) at 31 March 2023.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2024 was approximately 93.1%
while as at 31 March 2023 was approximately 36.7% (Restated).

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total borrowings and lease
liabilities, divided by total equity at each reporting date.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for FY2024 was approximately HK$1.0 million, which
was mainly used for (i) the purchase of furniture and fixtures and leasehold
improvements; and (ii) renovation of existing website.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2024, there were no significant contingent liabilities for the
Group.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2024, the Group has no operating commitments (2023: HK$0.1
million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has no capital commitments (2023: Nil).
Charges on Group assets

As at 31 March 2024, right of use assets with net book value of approximately
HK$12.1 million were held under lease arrangements (2023: HK$13.0 million).

Segment information
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed on Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 25 January 2018. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company's issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for FY2024
(FY2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save for the following, there was no significant investments, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during
FY2024.

Hefei Qijia is a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which was
founded in January 2024 in the PRC. Its primary focus is on providing software
and information technology services. In March 2024, Hefei Qijia (as the vendor)
entered into an acquisition agreement with Hefei Human Vision, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to acquire all issued shares of the Hefei Human
Vision for a total cash consideration of HK$300,000 upon the terms of the
acquisition agreement.

Hefei Human Vision is a software and information technology servicer in the
PRC, which founded in August 2018. Hefei Human Vision has become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company upon completion of the acquisition on March
2024 and the financial results of Hefei Human Vision has been consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the coming year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In the course of conducting business, our Group is exposed to various types
of risks, including operational risks, credit risks, liquidity risk and interest
rate risks. Our Group has established a set of risk management policies and
measures to identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from our operations.

The followings set out some of the primary operational risks our Group faces
that may materially and adversely affect our Group's business, financial
condition and results of operation and our risk management measures:

1.  Risk of remaining competitive in a highly

fragmented and competitive market

The lifestyle furniture and home furnishing market is highly fragmented
and competitive with low barriers to entry, and there are no specific
market leaders. Our competitors may have greater financial, marketing,
personnel and other relevant resources compared to us. In particular, the
pricing strategies implemented by our competitors may affect the pricing
of our products. If our competitors significantly reduce their product
prices, we may have to reduce our selling prices or engage in further
marketing to remain competitive. This would likely reduce our revenue
and profitability.

2. Risk of dependent on the shift in customer’s tastes
and preferences
Due to the nature of the furniture retail industry, the customers generally
purchase our products on an infrequent basis. Apart from the PRC
distributor, there is no purchase commitments from our customers and
there is no obligation for them to purchase any products from us in the
future. There is a risk that we may not be able to attract new customers
or existing customers to purchase our products if we fail to successfully
track changing customers tastes and preferences and market trends.

3. Risk of failure in expanding sales network to new

locations in Hong Kong

It may take longer than expected for the new stores to reach breakeven
or achieve investment payback, if at all. There is no guarantee that we
will execute our expansion plans according to business strategies in the
prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2018 (the “Prospectus”)
successfully, or that we will be able to attract more customers from our
expansion. If we fail to execute our expansion plans, our operations and
results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is also exposed to a variety of financial risks which comprise credit
risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As our Group’s revenue and expenses are mainly denominated in HK$ and
most of our Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$, which is our
functional currency, except for certain overseas purchases, bank balances, bank
borrowings which are denominated in Euro and USD. During FY2024, the Group
has net exchange gain of approximately HK$0.6 million (FY2023: net exchange
loss of approximately HK$0.6 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 79 employees. Total staff costs,
(including Directors” emoluments) of approximately HK$25.8 million for FY2024
(FY2023: approximately HK$27.9 million (Restated)).

The Group's remuneration policies were determined with reference to the
performance, qualification and experience of individual employees, as well as
the results of the Group and the market conditions. We have also adopted the
share option scheme which is designed to provide incentives and rewards to our
employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during FY2024.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

This forthcoming financial year will continue to be challenging as retail market
conditions remain competitive and weak consumer confidence and spending
in Hong Kong prevails due the current economic conditions. These factors will
continue to impact our performance adversely for the forthcoming year. We
will continue to focus on running our two TREE retail stores and e-commerce
platform in Hong Kong. We will continue to consolidate and invest to build on
our existing revenue streams while identifying new opportunities.

The Group strengthened its income base and expanded its revenue stream
by providing furniture agency services, consumer loan services and software
and information technology services. The Group continues to look for ways to
provide comprehensive services to customers in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (& %), aged 64, is our Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer, Executive Director and Chairman of the Nomination Committee. He was
appointed as our Director on 22 April 2016 and designated as our Chairman and
Non-Executive Director on 6 September 2016 and re-designated as a Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company from 1 August
2019. He is also a Director of TREE Limited. He is responsible for supporting our
Group on a strategic level.

Mr. Tong has more than 41 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr.
Tong was an Executive Director of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 86),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from December
2003 to January 2016. He also held various senior positions at Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited from December 2004 to January 2016 including the Chief Executive
Officer of its wealth management, brokerage and capital markets. Mr. Tong
was also a Director of Bali International Finance Limited (now known as Sun
Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited) from March 2004 to January 2016. From
July 2013 to July 2016, he was an Independent Non-Executive Director of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (stock code: 643), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tong was a Non-Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of Mason Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 273), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to January
2018. He was Chairman of the Board of Directors of Mason Group Holdings
Limited from April 2016 to September 2016, and Joint Chairman from
September 2016 to January 2018. Mr. Tong was also an Independent Director
of Jih Sun Financial Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 5820), the shares
of which are listed on the Taipei Exchange in Taiwan, between 2009 and June
2019.

Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours) from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1982 and a degree of Master of
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in October
1988. He was admitted as a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2000 and advanced to fellowship status in November
2005.
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Ms. Mary Kathleen Bahington, aged 53, is our Executive Director, Managing
Director and a member of our Nomination Committee. She was appointed as
one of our Directors on 9 March 2016, and designated as our Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director on 6 September 2016. From 1 August 2019, Mr.
Tong Tang Joseph took over the Chief Executive Officer role on the Board. Ms.
Babington is the Managing Director of TREE Limited. She is responsible for the
strategy of TREE Limited and for the implementation on an operational level,
across all functions including but not limited to internal management, human
resources, marketing, merchandising, sales and delivery.

Ms. Babington has more than 28 years of experience in the retail industry.
From May 1993 to January 2010, Ms. Babington worked in The Body Shop
International PLC.

In February 1993, Ms. Babington graduated from the University of Central
Lancashire in the United Kingdom with a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Business and Finance. In November 1996, she obtained a Certificate in Applied
Professional Studies from the University of Brighton in United Kingdom. She
obtained a degree of Master of Arts in Marketing from the Kingston University
in the United Kingdom in October 1998. In November 2003, Ms. Babington
completed the social systems auditor/lead auditor training course provided by
SGS Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. Babington became an Associate (corporate) of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing in the United Kingdom in December 1996. She was also admitted
as a Member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom in
November 1998.

In 2024, Ms. Babington obtained a certificate of completion from the University
of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL) in Business
Sustainability Management.
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Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (& #84&), aged 42, is our Executive Director, a member
of our Remuneration Committee and our Compliance Officer. He was appointed
as our Director on 9 March 2016 and designated as our Executive Director
on 6 September 2016. He joined our Group in June 2015 as a Director of Tree
Limited. Mr. Tsui is responsible for managing the financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Tsui has more than 20 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
field. Mr. Tsui has been the Chief Executive Officer of AE Majoris Advisory
Company Limited which is principally engaged in the provision of corporate
advisory services, since January 2012. He was the Company Secretary of Noble
House (China) Holdings Limited (now known as Zhonghua Gas Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 8246), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from July
2013 to August 2014. From August 2004 to January 2012, Mr. Tsui worked in an
international accounting firm in Hong Kong with his last position as a manager
in auditing. Mr. Tsui was a Non-Executive Director of CCT Land Holdings Limited
(now known as GBA Holdings Limited) (stock code: 261), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January 2017 to April 2018. Mr.
Tsui was the Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary of Jiu Zun Digital
Interactive Entertainment Group Holdings Limited (now known as Infinities
Technology International (Cayman) Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1961), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2019
to May 2022. Mr. Tsui was appointed as an Executive Director and chairman of
Capital Estate Limited (stock code: 193), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, from February 2022 to December 2023. Mr. Tsui has
been the Company Secretary of Ching Lee Holdings Limited (stock code: 3728),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since August 2017.
Mr. Tsui has been the Non-Executive Director of Star Group Company Limited
(stock code: 1560), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
since February 2022.

Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Embassy of the Republic of the Uganda in Beijing
as Honorary Trade, Tourism and Investment Consultant/Adviser on China
(Hong Kong and Macau SAR) from November 2016 to June 2019. Mr. Tsui was
appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
of Qinzhou City in Guangxi Province in China since December 2019. Mr. Tsui was
appointed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Integration of the
Republic of Ghana as Honorary Consul of Ghana in Hong Kong in March 2020. Mr
Tsui was appointed by Home Affairs Department of HKSAR as the team leader
of the Eastern District Care Team (Braemar Hill) since 29 September 2023. Mr.
Tsui was also appointed by the Senior Police Call Honorary Presidents Council of
Eastern District as Honorary President since 1 June 2024.

Mr. Tsui was awarded a Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in
Accounting from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in November
2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in January 2009 and January 2012, respectively.
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Mr. Bian Dahai (38 X &), aged 49, is our Executive Director. He was
appointed as our Non-Executive Director on 1 October 2020 and as our
Executive Director on 21 October 2022.

Mr. Bian Dahai has over 24 years' experience in business management and
project investment. He is active in various industries, including but not limited
to the international trade, real estate development, internet technology, smart
home and elderly care smart industries. The Board believes that Mr. Bian
Dahai's with wide range of experiences will bring new energy to the Board and
therefore will further improve the business performance of the Group.

Mr. Bian Dahai is currently the Executive Director and Legal Representative of
Beijing Savings Credit Investment Management Company Limited (1t 5 {5
EE L E T BB BR A A) since November 2015, the Director of Shenzhen
Zhong Teng Technology Company Limited (% JI| FF & 9 Bt B Bl R B R A
A]) since September 2017, the Director of Zhonggilian International Trading
Malaysia Company Limited (55 2% 75 35 2 1> B B PR & 5 B PR 2 &)) and the
Director of Noah Property Development Malaysis Company Limited ( & 2K 78 32
# 28 5 i 7 % R 5 FR 2 &) since December 2017.

In September and October 2018, Mr. Bian Dahai obtained the Licensing for Fund
Practitioners in respect of fund laws and regulations, professional ethics and
private equity investment funds organised by Asset Management Association
of China.

Mr. Jiao Dejun (55 2 %), aged 53, was designated as our Executive Director
on 10 January 2024.

Mr. Jiao has over 20 years' experience in comprehensive health care industry.
Mr. Jiao has been the director of Dalian Jubojingmi Moulding Co., Ltd. (X
EE 2 B AR A7) since October 2000; the director of Dalian
Lanyun Technology Development Co., Ltd. ( KB E BRI KR G R A7)
since May 2007; the director of Dalian Xindadi Modern Agricultural Technology
Development Co., Ltd. ( K31 AR B ERHZBER B R A A]) since
January 2010; the director of Shenzhen Kaishite Technology Co., Ltd. (& JI[ §l
T HE R B R A F]) since August 2017; the director of Lanyun Internet of
Things (Dalian) Group Co., Ltd. (B2 S8 B 48 (K& ) SR B R D B R A 7))
since 2019 and the director of Lanling Hyaluronic Acid Biotechnology (Hainan)
Co., Ltd. (B & B AR £ W R (/8 ) B BR A7) since November 2021.

Mr. Jiao graduated from the Dalian Jiaotong University in 1994 and majored in
mechanical engineering.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (15 3C 58 ), aged 56, was appointed as
our Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also
the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Yeung has over 30 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Mr. Yeung has been the Chief Financial Officer and an Executive
Director of GCL Technology Holdings Limited (“GCL Tech”, formerly known
as GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3800), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since May and September 2014,
respectively, responsible for its financial control and reporting, corporate
finance, tax and risk management. He has also been the Company Secretary of
GCL Tech since March 2017. Since September 2015, Mr. Yeung has also been a
Non-Executive Director of GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From May 1994 to
March 2014, Mr. Yeung worked at Deloitte China with his last position being
a Partner. From January 2008 to December 2008, Mr. Yeung was a part-time
member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yeung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business with a major in
Accounting from Edith Cowan University in Australia in February 1992. He was
admitted as an associate and a certified practising accountant of the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants in February 1992 and January 1996,
respectively. He was also admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in June 1996.
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Mr. Tsang Wai Yin (& {2 B), aged 63, was appointed as our Independent
Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a member of our
Audit Committee and Nomination committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Tsang has extensive expertise in commercial building and interior
architecture and has over 26 years of experience as a leader of design team in
a broad variety of projects. Mr. Tsang is currently the senior Director of AGC
Design Limited.

Mr. Tsang graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Architectural Studies in November 1982 and
a degree of Bachelor of Architecture in November 1985. He also obtained a
degree of Master of Business and Administration from the University of Toronto
in Canada in June 1992.

Mr. Tsang was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and elected into membership of the Royal Institute of British Architects
in December 1986 and July 1987, respectively. He was also admitted as a
professional member of the Interior Design Association (Hong Kong) in 2001
and was a founding member of the World Association of Chinese Architects
in April 2004. Mr. Tsang was accredited a PRC Class 1 Registered Architect of
the National Administration Board of Architect Registration (Qualification) in
August 2004, and admitted as an APEC Architect by the Central Council of the
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation in December 2015. He currently holds the
Certificate of Registration of Authorised Person (list of architects) issued by the
Building Authority in Hong Kong and is a registered architect in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang is appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Architects Registration Board for the period from May 2016 to May 2020.
He was also appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Contractors Registration Committee Panel from January 2004 to December
2008. He was a member of the Authorised Persons Registration Committee
and the Authorised Persons Registration Committee Panel of the Buildings
Department from January 2006 to December 2011, and an alternate member
of the Advisory Committee of Barrier Free Access of the Buildings Department
from July 2007 to July 2009.
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Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth ( & /& % ), aged 65, was appointed as our
Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also the
Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Sit has over 40 years of experience in the legal profession, being a
practising solicitor and Notary Public in Hong Kong. Mr. Sit was the sole-
proprietor of Kenneth Sit, Solicitors from October 2004 to October 2012,
and has been the Managing Partner of that firm since October 2012. Mr. Sit
has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pokfulam Development
Company Limited (stock code: 225), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since October 2005 and Zijin Mining Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2899 and 601899), a company dually listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, during 2013 to 2019.

Mr. Sit graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) in 1980 and was awarded the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws by the
University of Hong Kong in July 1981. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in March 1983.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Or Wai Yan (47 Z fiX ), aged 42, is the Merchandising Manager of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for the strategic range planning and product
sourcing of TREE Limited.

Ms. Or has over 18 years of experience in merchandising, across product
categories including home and outdoor furniture, toys and housewares. Before
joining our Group in March 2019, she worked at a number of companies,
including (i) ALDI Sourcing Asia Limited from June 2017 to June 2018 as
Sourcing Manager and from July 2013 to May 2017 as Sourcing Specialist;
(i) PRAKTIKER Group Buying Limited from November 2011 to June 2013 as a
Merchandiser; (i) WESTSIDE Austria Limited from March 2007 to August 2011
as a Merchandiser; (iv) SEARS Holding Global Sourcing Limited from June 2005
to February 2007 as an Assistant Merchandiser;

Ms. Or obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) International Trade and
Operations Management from University of Plymouth in April 2017, majoring in
Global Enterprise, Global Supply Chain and Research Skills.

Ms. Lai Kei Yue (24 #F), aged 37, is the Digital Marketing Manager of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for developing the digital marketing strategy
of TREE Limited.

Ms. Lai has over 11 years of experience in digital marketing. Before joining
our Group in March 2021, she worked at a number of companies in house
in addition to agencies, including (i) South China Morning Post — Hearst
Magazines from July 2019 to February 2021 as a Project Manager specialised in
social media; (i) GroupM Limited from February 2014 to August 2015 as a Social
Media Manager.

Ms. Lai obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Marketing
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2009.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (#Kk#248), aged 42, is our Company Secretary. Mr. Lam was
the Company Secretary of our Company during the period from January 2018
to September 2021 and was re-appointed as our company secretary in January
2024.

Mr. Lam has more than 20 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
finance industry. Since March 2016, Mr. Lam has been working for AE Majoris
Advisory Company Limited. Mr. Lam has been the Company Secretary of Sun
Hing Printing Holdings Limited (stock code: 1975), a company listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, since October 2021. Mr. Lam had been the
Non-Executive Director of Capital Estate Limited (stock code: 193), a company
listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, during the period from February
2022 to December 2023.

From August 2008 to February 2016, Mr. Lam worked at First Pacific Company
Limited (stock code: 142), a company listed on Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with his last position being corporate development manager in the
corporate development department, responsible for overseeing mergers and
acquisitions projects of the company. From January 2006 to August 2008, Mr.
Lam worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu with his last position being senior in
the audit department. From September 2004 to January 2006, Mr. Lam worked
at Ernst & Young as staff accountant in the assurance and advisory business
services department.

Mr. Lam graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
in November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in February 2008 and January 2018, respectively.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak is our Compliance Officer. Details of the qualification and
experience of Mr. Tsui have been disclose in the paragraph headed “Executive
Directors” of this section.

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak and Mr. Lam Yiu Cho are the authorised representatives of
our Company.

0I-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 =2 R G BR A A Annual Report S5 ¥R 2024

DRIME
HBEXE 25 BEMORARWE - M
A R2018F 1A E2021F9A IS ETARARN
NEE - WHR0UF1FBREZEARMN
NAEIWME -

MEERSHRECERMETETEES B204F
R E o MR E2016FIAME - —EEBMARBA KX
hEEEBRAT o MEEHW0NFIOAELE—E
& AT 3 BLEN R 2 AR 5 BR A &) (AR 13 A 5% < 1975 -

—ERBRER EMHRE)MNABWE  #
Pe A FR20224F2 B 2023412 A B3 B & T 7 P it
EABRAT(BRMAREE 193 - —RBIRBEZ BT ik

FHHRARDMIERITES -

FA20084F8 A =201649F28 » MEETBMNE—K
FAERAT (DR 142 - —RBEREERFTEIR
FTHAR]) REBUATEERIBOERRE
I8 - AEERZARMNHEIEE - 12006914
£2008F8A MEAERBAREDBEER T 5T
BT BB AFA TSR E - 1R200459
B ZE2006418 @ ML N LT K& A0 B 15
BT BT EHAAEGREBOSFTAE -

MEER00FNARERBENRKE - BE
B PIREBRES LR - %BZEAZOOBEZH

FAWBFIALEGERATATESHMATH
DEHA MM e AT E) -
SR EME

%%%Eﬁf‘ii)’%ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂé\%ﬁiﬁ BB AELE
REBONFERAHIATES —BRE -

RREAX
B RANRAR S B A DT A A
= o



29

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate
governance, as our Board believes that good and effective corporate
governance practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
Shareholders of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain the success of the
Group and to create long-term value for the Shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. Qur Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to achieve effective
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Board, save
as Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has complied with the CG
Code during FY2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of the code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors as set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company, and there was no event of
non-compliance throughout FY2024.
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TRERWME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should include a
balanced composition of Executive and Independent Non-Executive Directors
so that there is an independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Mr. Bian Dahai

Mr. Jiao Dejun (appointed on 10 January 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

Responsibilities and Functions of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group's mission and standards and ensures that the
requisite financial and human resources support are in place for the Group to
achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference which are published on the respective websites of GEM and
the Company. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions
to senior management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management of day-to-day operation of the Group’s businesses and
implementation of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the
Board has been delegated to the senior management of the Group.
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The functions performed by the Board include but are not limited to the
following matters:

° formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring the
implementation thereof;

° deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

. approving of the Group's consolidated financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcement and other disclosure required
under the GEM Listing Rules;

° developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

° Board appointment and other major appointments or removal; and
° monitoring the performance of the management.

The Directors have full and timely access to information and accounts of the
Group and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the various guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.
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TRERWME

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board.

From time to time, the Company Secretary updates and provides written
training materials on the latest developments of applicable GEM Listing Rules
and regulations to the Directors.

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional

development and are committed to participate any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board will schedule to meet at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in
advance. The Directors are allowed to include any other matters in the agenda
that is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the
Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and
to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers
together with all appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters
of the meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of each regular Board meeting and three days or such other period as
agreed before each other Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the draft minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for the Directors” inspection. According to the GEM
Listing Rules, any Directors and their associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) with a material interest in the transactions to be discussed at the Board
meetings will abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions
and are not counted in the quorum of the meetings.

During FY2024 and up to the date of this report, seven Board meetings and
one Shareholders” meeting (being the annual general meeting (the “AGM") of
the Company) were held. The individual attendance record of the Board and
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Number of AGM Number of Board
attended/eligible to meetings attended/
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BHE SEREE BHE SEEBHE
Name of Directors EEME BREFAERH EEZEEEARE
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph FELLE 1/1 7/7
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington 22 == il 7/7
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak rARELE ”n 7/7
Mr. Bian Dahai BREEE 01 0/7

Mr. Jiao Dejun (appointed on 10 January 2024) & 1= & 5L &

(20241 A10B £ 1) 0/0 1/2
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles 15 SR E 171 /7
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin LEZLAE 0/1 /7
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth EEgELAE 171 /7
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TRERWME

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Except for Mr. Bian Dahai and Mr. Jiao Dejun, each of our Executive Directors
has entered into a service contract with our Company on 25 January 2018 and
we signed letters of appointment with each of our Independent Non-Executive
Directors on the same day. The service contracts with our Executive Directors
are for an initial term of three years commencing from the listing date on 25
January 2018 (the “Listing Date”) and can be terminated by either party giving
not less than three months’ notice in writing. For Mr. Bian Dahai and Mr. Jiao
Dejun, we signed letters of appointment with them, as our Executive Directors
on 20 October 2022 and 10 January 2024, respectively. The service contracts
with our Executive Directors are for initial terms of three years commencing
from 21 October 2022 and 10 January 2024, respectively.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination
in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts can be
renewed in accordance with our articles of association (the “Articles”) and the
applicable GEM Listing Rules.

According to our Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at every AGM of the Company, provided that
every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at AGM at least once every three years. Directors who are appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by Shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION
MECHANISMS

The Company has Board independence evaluation mechanisms in place to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. To facilitate
an effective meeting, the Board and Board committee meeting schedules are
informed well in advance to the Directors. Meeting agenda, materials and
information are provided to the Directors prior to meetings. Any Director can
give notice to the Chairman if he intends to include matters on the agenda of
a Board meeting. All Directors are welcome to raise enquiries, suggestions
and views during the meetings. To encourage active participation, video
conferences are arranged for Directors who are unable to attend in person. The
Board has conducted an annual review on these mechanisms and considered
they are in place and are effective.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also enhance the quality of performance of
the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy. All Board appointments will continue to
be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The Board Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company at
https.//qihouseholdings.com/ for public information.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revision that may be required and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

Targets have been set to maintain the Board with at least 20% of members
being made up of Executive Directors, together with an appropriate level of
female member, which shall be at least one female member.

The Board has achieved the aforementioned targets during FY2024. As at the
date of this report, the Board comprises eight directors, three of which are
independent non-executive directors and has one female member.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph currently assumes the role of both chairman of the
Company and chief executive of the Company. In view that Mr. Tong has been
assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating and managing our Group and
the rapid development of our Group, the Board believes that with the support of
Mr. Tong's extensive experience and knowledge in the business of the Group,
vesting the roles of both Chairman and chief executive officer of our Company
in Mr. Tong strengthens the solid and consistent leadership and thereby allows
for efficient business planning and decision which is in the best interest to our
Group. Mr. Tong delegates the role and responsibilities including operations,
management, business development and strategy planning of the Group to
other Executive Directors. The Board will review the need of appointing suitable
candidate to assume the role of chief executive when necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this
report.

Audit Committee

We established our Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph D.3.3 and
D.3.7 of the CG Code Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed
on 5 January 2018. The terms of reference were amended and restated on
4 January 2019, with respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee are, among other things, to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor, review the financial statements and provide advice in
respect of financial reporting, oversee our financial reporting process, internal
control, risk management systems and audit process, and perform other duties
and responsibilities assigned by our Board.

At present, our Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles,
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, all being Independent Non-
Executive Directors. Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles is the Chairman of our Audit
Committee.

During FY2024 and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee held
four meetings, at which the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the
Company's consolidated financial results, including the accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group, the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code, the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems and the Group's internal audit function and recommended to the Board
for consideration the same and the re- appointment of Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited (“Grant Thoernton”) as the Company's external independent
auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
https.//qihouseholdings.com/ for public information.
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During FY2024 and up to the date of this report, the attendance of each
member at the Audit Committee meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors

TRERBME

RAWUFBRFEREEAREAH  EKEH
FEZEREEEZNBERET:

Number of attendance/
number of meetings

EEnE EEHEREY BTRH
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (Chairman) BXREE(EE) 4/4
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin EEXAE 4/4
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth HBESLE 4/4

Remuneration Committee

We established our Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph E.1.2
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices pursuant to a resolution
of our Directors passed on 30 December 2022. The primary duties of our
Remuneration Committee are to review and approve the management's
remuneration proposals, make recommendations to our Board on the
remuneration package of our Directors and senior management and ensure
none of our Directors determines his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
https.//qihouseholdings.com/ for public information.

At present, our Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, being
our Executive Director, and two of our Independent Non-Executive Directors,
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth. Mr. Sit Hoi Wah
Kenneth is the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During FY2024 and up to the date of this report, the committee met on 20
June 2023, 10 January 2024 and 21 June 2024 with 100% attendance by all
Committee members.

Nomination Committee

We established our Nomination Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed on 5 January 2018.
The terms of reference were amended and restated on 4 January 2019, with
respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of our
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of
our Board, and select or make recommendations on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships.

¥yFMEESE
HFIEBIRGEM LR RIS 34E R AR ERE
BT RIE12E > RIBEE 20224612 430 & 18
MABRRUFMEZE S AHEE@MBESR
cHHMEBEMETERAES IR EEE
BevEmeEs REERSREEENH M
BREFFIRLEZANERTBEEEETH
N5 B H B o

A B 48 uh httos.//gihouseholdings.com/ 32 1t B #E &6
WARER -

BAT  FHEZEEHATEETGHABEEUR
MEBIFRTEEGXEEERESERLE
MK - BBERLERFNEESERE -

ROUBFBFEREEARERH  ZEEN
2023464201 -~ 202441710 % 202456 H21 A £
TE® 2BZBENEHELRE -

REZE®
BMEERMETAEHATABIE  REES
R2018F 1A H BB AEREVIZZEZES
Wl EE B EEE - B EE RN2019F1A
JEEFHGEM EMRAETEBIIREY - %
ZEEMITEBEARNETSLERE  AHK
MR UARBBREIRRHTESEHA LTI
RoEF o

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



38

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERWME

At present, our Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, being
our Chairman and Executive Director, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, being our
Executive Director, and our three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr.
Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth and Mr. Tsang Wai Yin.
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph is the Chairman of our Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
https.//qihouseholdings.com/ for public information.

During FY2024 and up to the date of this report, the committee met once on 20
June 2023, 10 January 2024 and 21 June 2024 with 100% attendance by all
Committee members.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For FY2024, Grant Thornton was engaged as the Group's independent auditor.
Apart from the provision of annual audit services, Grant Thornton also provided
the non-audit services to the Company.

For FY2024, the remuneration paid or payable to Grant Thornton in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:

BRl REZECHIFERPTESEET LA -
#7T €& % Mary Kathleen BabingtonZ LA 2 = %78
VIRTESHBEXALE BHEEXEREE
BRAHEK BEXRERREEZEESERF -

XA &) 48 Uk https.//gihouseholdings.com/ B 4 B 7 &
BAFER o

ROUBFBFEREEAREAH  ZEERN
202356208  20244F1 F10H [ 202446 5218
TaE® 2RZBENBEHELRE -

S BS ¥ B8 B

RONGBEE BABZRAFEBNEY
BBET o BRI EERZRBE  RANAES
RAVREIER LR -

%//

R20248 BEFE - LBFAIMEHOEZRIFERE
ZIRBENHENOMEEHIIMT

2024

2024

Category of services HK$'000
Bk %% 48 Bl FHERT
Audit services Bk 750.0
Non-audit services FEZRBE 37.0

DIRECTORS" AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects in annual,
interim and quarterly reports, and other financial disclosures required by the
GEM Listing Rules. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group’s
results and cash flows for FY2024 and are properly prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and accounting
standards.

The management will provide the Board with monthly updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under Rule 5.01 and Chapter 17 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern.

In addition, Grant Thornton has stated in the Independent Auditor's Report its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for FY2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of the
Group's system of internal controls and risk assessment. A review of internal
controls systems of different operations was conducted by an independent
external risk advisory firm to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy internal
controls system.

The Board considered the internal controls system of the Group to be adequate
and effective for FY2024. The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs and budget which
are considered to be adequate for FY2024.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors in accordance with Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group has strictly
prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or insider information or any use of
such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any inside information
and any information which may potentially constitute inside information is
promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board
to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due course.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (#K#8 #8), aged 42, is our Company Secretary. He rejoined
our Group in 1 January 2024. The biographical details of Mr. Lam are set out
under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

The primary duties of the Company Secretary include, but are not limited to, the
following: (i) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that the activities
of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (ii) to assist the
Chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings and disseminate
such documents to the Directors and Board committees in a timely manner; (iii)
to timely disseminate announcements and information relating to the Group;
and (iv) to maintain formal minutes of the Board meetings and other Board
committee meetings.

During FY2024, the Company Secretary of the Company had confirmed that he
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training the accordance
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM").

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Shareholder(s) concerned,

his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene the EGM
and the proposed agenda.
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Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the Company maintains
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, use AGM or other
meetings to communicate with Shareholders and encourage their participation.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders through convening the AGM or general meetings, publication of
annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements, circulars as well
as all the disclosures submitted to the respective websites of GEM and the
Company.

A Shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by the Board at the
Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming at providing the Shareholders
and potential investors with ready and timely access to balanced and
understandable information of the Company. The Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder's communication policy
and considered it to be effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the 2023 AGM, a special resolution was passed to adopt a new
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company (the “M&A") in order
to bring the M&A in line with amendments made to Appendix 3 to the GEM
Listing Rules which became effective on 1 January 2022 and the applicable
laws of the Cayman Islands and incorporate certain housekeeping amendments.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
posted on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Group has adopted a whistle-blowing policy to allow the employees
or other stakeholders (such as suppliers and customers) of the Group to
raise concerns, in confidence, with the Audit Committee about the possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Group.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group does not allow and tolerate any forms of corruption. The Group has
adopted the Anti-corruption Policy, which outlines the Group’s zero-tolerance
stance against bribery and corruption and sets out the responsibilities of all
business units and employees of the Group to comply with the applicable
anti-corruption laws, rules and regulations.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company's dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company's profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the its
future growth. In proposing any dividend, the Company would consider various
factors including but not limited to (i) the Group’s financial results, {ii) the
financial condition of the Group, (iii) the Group's working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans, (iv) the Group’s
liquidity position, (v) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and (vi) any other factors that our Board may consider appropriate.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

According to the Company’s Articles and the Companies Ordinance, dividends
must be paid in cash or be satisfied wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares of the Company. The Board may consider the issuance of bonus shares
on a basis permitted by the applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in

its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
dividend policy at any time.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we engage in (i) the sale, distribution and rental
of furniture and home accessories which is operating under the brand name
“TREE"; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights
of “TREE"; (iii) the operation of TREE Café in Flagship Store; (iv) the provision
of furniture agency services; and (v) the provision of styling and consulting
services.

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store. We have commenced
online sales since May 2019. We offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables,
chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and (b) home accessories including
kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses,
utensils and baskets.

In addition, we acquired lItaliving in December 2018, which is principally
engaged in the provision of furniture agency service in Hong Kong.

OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

In January 2022, we acquired Super Easy, which is principally engaged in the
provision of consumer loan services.

We started a new business by setting up a new wholly-foreign owned
enterprise named Hefei Qijia in the PRC in January 2024, which is principally
engaged in the provision of software and information technology services.

In March 2024, Hefei Qijia acquired Hefei Human Vision, which is principally
engaged in the provision of software and information technology services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for FY2024 is set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for FY2024 and the financial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set forth in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 64 to 167 of this report.

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
FY2024.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the Company's share capital are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the distributable reserves of the Company and
of the Group during FY2024 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during FY2024 amounted to
approximately HK$25,000 (FY2023: HK$72,000).

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group, as
extracted from the Prospectus and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the years ended 31 March 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 is set
out on page 168 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and set out below.

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant
options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group and/or to enable our Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to our Group or any entity in which any member of our Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

Participants

Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, be entitled but shall not be
bound at any time within a period of 10 years commencing from the date
of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the
grant of an option to any person belonging to the following classes:

(a)  any employee (whether full time or part time, including the
Directors (including any Non-Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Director)) of our Company, any of our subsidiaries
(within the meaning of Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an “Eligible Employee”);

(b)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group or
any Invested Entity;

(c)  any customer of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(e} any Shareholder of any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or
equity who in the opinion of our Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of our Group; and
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(c)

(g any other groups or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
our Group,

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for the grant
of an option may be made to any company wholly-owned by one or more
eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company for
the subscription of shares or other securities of our Group to any person
who falls within any of the above classes of eligible participants shall
not, by itself, unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer under
the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our Directors from
time to time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to such eligible
participant’s contribution to the development and growth of our Group.

Maximum number of shares

(a)  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by our Group shall not exceed 30% of
our share capital in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes adopted by our Group if the grant of such options will
result in the limit referred herein being exceeded.

(b)  The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of our Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
our Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of our share capital
in issue as at the date on which dealings in our shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the
“General Scheme Limit").
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(d)

(c) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) below, our
Company may seek approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that the
total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group shall not exceed 10% of
our share capital in issue as at the date of approval of the limit
and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of our Group) previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group will not
be counted.

(d) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above, our
Company may seek separate Shareholders” approval in general
meeting to grant options under the Share Option Scheme
beyond the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in (c) above to eligible participants specifically
identified by our Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (v) below, the total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option under the
Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of our issued share capital for the time being. Where any
further grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a grantee
would result in our shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of our share capital in issue, such
further grant shall be separately approved by our Shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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(e) Grant of options to core connected persons

(a)  Without prejudice to (b) below, the making of an offer under the
Share Option Scheme to any of our Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates
shall be approved by our Independent Non-Executive Directors
(excluding any Independent Non-Executive Director who or
whose close associate is the proposed grantee of an option under
the Share Option Scheme).

(b)  Without prejudice to (a) above, where any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or our
Independent Non-Executive Director or any of their respective
associates, would result in our shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option Scheme
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our share capital
in issue; and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
our shares at the offer date of each offer, in excess of
HK$5 million;

such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee, his
associates and all our core connected persons shall abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our Shareholders under
paragraphs (iii), (iv) and (v) above, our Company shall send a circular to
our Shareholders containing the information required under the GEM
Listing Rules and where the GEM Listing Rules shall so require, the vote
at the Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval
shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the GEM
Listing Rules abstaining from voting.
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(f)

Time of acceptance and exercise of an option

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other
person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be a
business day, on which the offer is made to the eligible participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in respect
of all shares which are offered to such eligible participant when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
eligible participant together with a remittance in favour of our Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
our Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of less
than the number of shares which are offered provided that it is accepted
in respect of a board lot for dealings in our shares on GEM or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by such eligible
participant and received by our Company together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not
be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to the grantee thereof (provided always that such period
shall not be more than 10 years from the offer date of that option), and
in the absence of such determination, from the date of the grant of such
option to the earlier of (aa) the date on which such option lapses under
the relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (bb) the date
falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31
March 2024.

MANDATORY PROVIDENT FUND SCHEME

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the laws of Hong Kong) for employees under the jurisdictions of
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
monthly income, subject to a cap of HK$1,500. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.
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At 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group had no forfeited contribution available
to reduce its existing level of contributions to the retirement benefit schemes in
future years.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, there
is no equity-linked agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
FY2024 or subsisted at the end of FY2024.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's shares were successfully listed on GEM on 25 January 2018.
Save as the Listing, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
FY2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2024, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for about
56.0% of the Group's cost of materials and the largest supplier accounted for
about 17.1% of the cost of materials.

During FY2024, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for about
10.2% of the Group's total revenue and the largest customer accounted for
about 5.0% of the total revenue.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the shares) had
any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers
referred to above.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that the Directors, Secretary and other officers and every
auditor for the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during FY2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2024 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Mr. Bian Dahai

Mr. Jiao Dejun (appointed on 10 January 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management”.

Article 112 of the Articles provides that any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Article 108(a) to 108(c) of the Articles provides that (1) one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is a not multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at
each AGM, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years; (2) a retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting
at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.

Mr. Jiao Dejun, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, Mr. Tong Tang Joseph and Mr.
Tsui Wing Tak will retire at the AGM and all of them, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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The Company has received written confirmations of independence from each
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Man Chung
Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company still
considers the Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which any of the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of FY2024 or at any time during FY2024.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (“Mr. Tong") and
Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”) (the “Controlling Shareholders") have entered
into the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Deed of Non-Competition
Undertakings”) in favour of the Company (for its own and on behalf of all members
of the Group) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders, irrevocably and unconditionally, undertakes and covenants with the
Company that during the period that the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings
remains effective, each of the Controlling Shareholders shall not, and shall procure
that none of his/her/its associates (except any member of the Group), directly
or indirectly (other than through the Group) carry on, participate, hold, engage,
being interested in, acquire or operate, directly or indirectly, or provide any form of
assistance to any person, firm or company to conduct any business in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the Group’s existing business activity and
any business activities which may be undertaken by the Group from time to time.
Details of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings have been set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition
Undertakings™ in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance with the terms of the
Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during FY2024. The independent
non-executive Directors, having reviewed the annual declarations and made
reasonable enquiry, were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during
FY2024 and up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Except for Mr. Bian Dahai and Mr. Jiao Dejun, each of our Executive Directors
has entered into a service contract with our Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Our Executive Director, Mr. Bian Dahai has entered into a letter of appointment
with our Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 October 2020,
which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Our Executive Director, Mr. Jiao Dejun has entered into a letter of appointment
with our Company for a term of three years commencing from 10 January 2024,
which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Each of our Independent Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and determining
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Interests and short positions of the Company's
Directors and chief executives in the Company’s
shares, underlying shares and debentures and the
Company'’s associated corporations

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the Company's
Directors in the Company's shares, underlying shares or debentures which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register as referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of
dealings” as contained in Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i)  Long position in the Company’s shares

EEMEBR
AARERIHMEES  AERT RS E
FRERERENFHRBETR  UTES
ERBEAAINOFH S - ORI RB
EURAEENRE -

ARAEERESTHRAERART
Rt - HEAROREEEARERAF
MEEEPNERE KR

R2024F3831H * RABEENARA KD - H
RO EEEY HERBEAFRHER
EXVEBETRES BB M E AN ) B AT A
HmHAR PRESREZSFRHEGKNEH
BXWEFIRBEAENER L AR IR
BEA RS G0 5535216 78 & 5 Rz g Byt
HE MR IOA R - SR IR GEM LT R Bl
EREMHIZHVUTEEIEMGART K
RFTHESSARNT

i) RELXIRDOER

Number of Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest shares held™ shareholding
EEnL EEME FrERBEHEBED REB DL
Mr. Tong (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 745,860,000 (L) 47.09%
e e A ) R EENE = (H5T2)
Beneficial owner 61,900,000 3.91%
EmfEA A
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Interest in a controlled corporation 59,400,000 (L) 3.75%
(“Ms. Babington") (Note 3)
Mary Kathleen Babington % + P S A B R R 2 (P RE3)
([Babington Z 1)
Mr. Bian Dahai (“Mr. Bian”) Beneficial Owner 8,000,000 (L) 0.51%
EARBEE(RBEED EmAA
Notes: B 5E
1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FEHIUEZALTRZERGFHO(TFE]

XV of the SF0) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 47.09% by Tiptop. Tiptop is wholly-owned
by Mr. Tong.

3. The Company is owned as to 3.75% by Rothley Investment Limited
(“Rothley”). Rothley is wholly-owned by Ms. Babington. Under the SFO,
Ms. Babington is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Rothley.
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2. BIBYEH ANNT41.09% I HE - BIERE
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3. Rothley Investment Limited ([Rothley]) # &
2N X F13.75% # A% # © Rothley Fa Babington
Z+2ERE BEIFHFRPEHKRM -
Babington £ = % 48 75 7% Rothley T #% 7 #0 48
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Saved as disclosed above, as of 31 March 2024, none of the Company's
Directors and chief executives and their respective associates had or is deemed
to have any interest or short positions in the Company's shares, underlying
shares or debentures or the Company's associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register as referred
to herein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of dealing” as contained in
Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Interests and short positions of substantial
Shareholders in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares and debentures and the Company’s associated
corporations

As at 31 March 2024, so far as the Company's Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Company’s
shares or underlying shares which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who, directly or indirectly, were interested in 5% or more of the issued voting
shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any member of the Company:

(i)  Long position in the Company’s shares
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B ENFEESRI  BE204F3A318 - ARF
EERGERTRABURBESEMNHE AR
BRARTIRG - BERGOKIEEFKIEAAT
HEEE (TR RBHRBEGOIEXVE) P
EAERABEETMBRIBEES M BAEGHEXV
T8 5B 78 A& AN A) KB A2 T A A 4 ok
KB BEEEREZFRBEKIBEIKX
WEEXRABEENEZIAR)  NRIEEF
Ko B 5 16 I 535216 78 & 50 FA RZ 16 BT it & &2 B
MR SRA R NIRECEM EMRBIEREFR
B[R 5 ST 12 | A& ARA R MR AT 89 i

SL— A
mIORAE ©

FERRRAQXARG - HEROK
BRERURAKRAR BB EE B
EERXAE

MARNTEEMA - N202443A8318 » oA+
(ARREBERERITHABRINRARR K
DRAEERDPEBER R AEBRBEESFR
BB EXVELF2 %35 2878 A& AN 7] K B
RETMERS AR  KEEREEREN G R
FAI R — B R T EARRME MK E R R
BAGLERANEAMERBRAHBHEITARR
TE PN 5%k JA - Ry RE 25

i) RELIRDOER

Interests in Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares" shareholding

BREWEEE EEME BRHER REBDL

Tiptop Beneficial owner (Note 2) 745,860,000 (L) 47.09%

=278 EmfEE AT

Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna Interest of spouse (Note 3) 807,760,000 (L) 50.99%

Szt Bic 45 4 2= (P 3E3)

Wuxing Hehe Holding Group Beneficial owner (Note 4) 133,240,000 (L) 8.41%
Co., Limited

RITMEEREBEERAR BEmEAAT

Ms. Yang Songmei Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 5) 133,240,000 (L) 8.41%

Yang Songmei %2 £ X1 RTE 2w (M FE5)

Mr. Xu Qiang Beneficial owner (Note 6) 115,660,000 (L) 7.30%

Rkt Em A A 5E6)

Notes: B 5 -

1. The letter "L denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FRIBEZATRZERDPOTE]

XV of the SFO) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 47.09% by Tiptop.

(EBEREFLHEROIEXVER) -

2. ETE A AR F)47.09% K A% AE o
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3. Tiptop is wholly-owned by Mr. Tong, the Company's Chairman, one of the
Company’s Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders. Ms. Shum
Yuet Wah Anna is the spouse of Mr. Tong. Under the SFO, Ms. Shum
Yuet Wah Anna is deemed to be interested in all the Company's shares in
which Mr. Tong is interested.

4. The Company is owned as to 8.41% by Wuxing Hehe Holding Group Co.,
Limited.

5. Wuxing Hehe Holding Group Co., Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Yang
Songmei, is interested in 133,240,000 ordinary share of the Company.

6. Mr. Xu is interested in 115,660,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors were not aware
of any other persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the
issued voting shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2024 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

COMPETING BUSINESS AND CONFLICT OF
INTEREST

As confirmed by the Directors, Controlling Shareholders and their respective
close associates do not have any interests in any business, apart from the
business operated by members of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during FY2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Directors
confirm that the Company maintained the public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During FY2024, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are not exempted under Rule 20.71 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions carried in the ordinary
course of business are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 29 to 42 of
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2024 were audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the independent auditor, who shall retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
Qi-House Holdings Limited

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

21 June 2024
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B ZBERE

° GrantThornton
2 [=]

To the members of Qi-House Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qi-House Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out
on pages 64 to 167, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Qur responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

B R BARE

B EFTEH
MREBAZHEERBERMANERHE  RAY
AHEEMBRRNEAZA/EENEE - &
LERARERMEAERGAVBRRLEA
ERRETREN HMTSHELEREH
BERENER -

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BERENEE BN ERNNEEBEREENSEE
Impairment assessment of goodwill

BE A

Refer to Notes 2.19, 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

256 M RER M 7E219 « 3%15 o

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group made provision for
impairment of goodwill amounting to approximately HK$8,694,000.
B E204F3ANAULFE - NEEC s E R E e &
1# #78,694,0007%8 7T °

The Group is required to perform impairment assessment of goodwill
at least annually. For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill
has been allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of furniture
agency services. The management had made an assessment of the
recoverable amount of the underlying CGU, with reference to an
independent external valuation conducted at the end of the reporting

period.
EEBAELFFHBHEETRENG - RETHE
A AEESEEHRARERBOREELEN - B
BEE2RNIRE P REITHE LN L (E T (& 18
REeEFEMHATKESE -

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to its significance to the consolidated financial statements
and the significant estimates and judgements involved in the
calculation of recoverable amount of the underlying CGU about future
market conditions, including the growth rate of revenue and discount
rate applied in the calculation.
HREEREN Y GEMBREAMEBEER  BFtH
TERAIR & B A B A AT U Ol & 58 % B B AR 2R O B B KA
SARHAE (BEAEPMEANERERERFTRE) -
MK ERET AR SRR ESEE -

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
included the following:

BMEEREREFENEZEFEENATEERA:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer;
BN DL E RN A K - BE S

VAN

EREBLEESR

Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used in the impairment assessment;

HEANREFHENEESTEETEE:

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted
by the management in calculating the recoverable amount
based on our knowledge of the business and industry;
ERBMEEBRITENRATEEREETH
AlEEEREANEIERREETAE:

Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliability of the
input data used; and

MR BARIBERERLASE K

Considering management’s sensitivity analysis with respect to
variations of key assumptions adopted, to evaluate the extent
to which reasonably possible changes would result in change
to the outcome of the impairment assessment.
EZEEEBEHMRMNEIERI[EDINHRED
#r - LATE & B2 A 17 86 B A BT ik T e S ORUE T 14 4
REKEHHOFIEES -
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B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEETTER

BREIASEH®
How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RMNERNATEERREAER

Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables and
loan receivables

EZRAMBUREARBERERNRERHE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

28486 IS m KM 7210 - 318 o

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had trade and other receivables
and loan receivables of approximately HK$44,417,000 (net of ECL
allowance of HK$138,000) and HK$14,808,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$337,000) respectively, which falls within the scope of expected
credit losses (“ECL") model for impairment assessment.

R2024F383NH: EEEMNESREMERFBEUR
JEW E 3D Bl #) A44070008 T (BEHBRFEREEEE

15 K 49138,0007%8 7T) £214,808,00078 T (BB FE Hi(Z & /&
BHEE 3370008 ) RBEFHMEERNEHEE
EEEREER -

The Group recognises ECL allowance based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation based on the Group’s past history, existing market
condition and forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period.
EEEEAREBEORARBRELTERNEEXRRAEREES
EHEEE - BEXEENEHEIREZERRESEMAH
ABER AR E5EBELR BROMARE®RS
HRZR 69 A IE (k5T 8 3B B IR o

We identified the provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables and loan receivables as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and significant
degree of management’s estimation and judgement are involved in
assessing the ECL allowance.
HRESREMERRENRERBEE GRS B R
mMEBEXR BFEEPEEERERSIRHEREFE
8 R R FIET - S E 5 K H A JE 4 5k TH 8 R
EREIRN SERETEE -

Our audit procedures in relation to provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables and loan receivables included the following:
BMEEESREMERRIEU R EREZRERED
ERREFBRBATRE:

Understanding management’s assessment of ECL allowance
on trade and other receivables and loan receivables;
TREEBYHES R HMBURRENREKER
B EEEBREERNTG:

Assessing the reasonableness of estimates and judgement
made by management on ECL allowance by examining the
information used by management to form such judgements;
FRESCEEENNENEEEREEELNA
BREANEN FHEEENEREEEEE
EEHM M RABRESTSE:

Testing, on a sample basis, the ageing report by comparing
with the relevant invoices and other supporting documents for
trade receivables and loan agreements for loan receivables;
HESERBFERERERNERLHEMS - &
3B b B B B 3R B H 4t 7 BA S - ORI SRR R

8

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ECL allowance
using the ECL rates adopted by the Group; and

TR EXEEMKANEREEREE  MER
mERERREERERER S ER K&

Evaluating the appropriateness of the ECL rates applied for
loan receivables by reference to the historical recovery rates,
probability of default, exposure at default, loss given default
and forward-looking information with the assistance of our
valuation specialists.

EREZROBET BH2EFELKEE . E
ARTREME  EARER BB RAEMLERT
e FEEHEEFEEXRTHEE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2024 annual report of the Company, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

B R BARE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

21 June 2024

Lam Kam Fung
Practising Certificate No.: P07822
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SGEREREMEZERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
b &F FET FET
(Restated)
(&)
Revenue I = 4 64,965 78,194
Cost of sales 5 & B A (23,109) (26,610)
Gross profit EF 41,856 51,584
Other income H g A 5 7,823 9,070
Selling and marketing expenses HERMIGHERX (30,390) (32,090}
Administrative expenses THRAX (25,665) (22,547
(Provision for)/Reversal of provision ESRHMERREARERE
for impairment of trade and other EVRE (B ), B ERE
receivables and loan receivables, net gt (330) 345
Provision for impairment of goodwill SRR 15 (8,694) (14,732)
Finance costs B 75 P AR 6 (1,673) (799)
Loss before income tax BRAEBAER 7 (17,073) (9,169)
Income tax expense FrE i 9 (201) (845)
Loss for the year attributable to equity NATREZFEAELFAESIE
holders of the Company (17,274) (10,014)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FRHEMEZEGIX) KH
income for the year
Items that will be reclassified subsequently H 7 5 2 %7 5> 48 2 18 25 #9178 H
to profit or loss
Actuarial loss on long service payment RERGSRBEEE 28 (100) 2)
Exchange (loss)/gain on translation MEBINEBE B IRE D
of financial statements of foreign & 3 (F518), W
operations (69) 49
(169) 47

Total comprehensive expense forthe AATRERFEEAEEFARAEME

year attributable to equity holders of B X # %8

the Company (17,443) (9,967)
Loss per share attributable to equity ZRAFREZFEAELESRER

holders of the Company

(expressed in HK cents per share) (A8 BB R)

— Basic and diluted —EAREE 10 (1.09) (0.63)

The notes on pages 68 to 167 are an integral part of these consolidated — Z568Z 1675 Ff & Mif 7 Jh AN 4R & Bf 75 3R R MY 4H K
financial statements. ZB45 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R E BRI R

Asat31 March 2024 7202493 831H

2024 2023
2024 4F 20234
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000
N3 FET FE T
(Restated)
(&5
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BELEZE 12 12,616 13,810
Intangible assets BmZAE 13 735 111
Goodwill EES 15 — 8,694
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBHRESER 16 2,023 1,978
Loan receivables FE U B 3K 18 21 228
Deferred tax assets FIERTEE E 24 374 416
15,959 25,237
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 11,833 14,262
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b e W sk 1B 18 51,827 38,710
Loan receivables & U B 3Kk 18 14,597 10,480
Tax recoverable Al Wz [ 7 18 398 1,540
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LIRS 19 12,192 9,479
90,847 74,471
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAM B FIE 20 31,445 21,534
Contract liabilities AHBE 21 6,987 5,917
Bank borrowings RITEE 22 20,274 6,464
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 8,121 8,195
66,827 42,110
Net current assets RBEEFE 24,020 32,361
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAR 39,979 57,598
Non-current liabilities kRBAR
Lease liabilities HEEE 23 4,428 4,684
Other payables H h jE 7 5RIE 20 281 201
4,709 4,885
Net assets REE 35,270 52,713
EQUITY =
Share capital N 25 15,840 15,840
Reserves & 19,430 36,873
Total equity BRER 35,270 52,713
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B BrERE
Director Director
- -

The notes on pages 68 to 167 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

Share Share Capital Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* losses* equity
kx  RoEE* EXRET ERRET  RiEE* R
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
TET TFET TET TFET TET TET
(Note 26/a)) (Note 26/b))
(Witzep)  (H2260)

Balance at 1 April 2022 RN2FIAIBHE S 15,840 91,564 5474 18 9784 62,680
Loss for the year (restated) FRER(RET) — — - — (10,014) (10,014)
Other comprehensive income Htt2ERX(KES)
(restated)
— Actuarial loss on long service — KRB REER
payment (note 26) (H17#28) - - - - (2) (2)
— Exchange gain on translation of —AEBNERTER
financial statements of foreign FHEVE K W&
operations — — — 49 — 49
Total comprehensive income/ ER2ERE/ (X
(expense) for the year (restated) ~ #5E (KX E 5)) — — — 49 (10,016) (9,967)
Balance at 31 March 2023 and FR2023F3A31E R 2023F
1 April 2023 [restated) IAIRME R
(E=50) 15,840 31,564 5,474 67 (232) 52,713
Loss for the year FRER — — — — (17,274) (17,274)
Other comprehensive expense H2ERX
— Actuarial loss on long service —RABRKEREER
payment (note 28) (Hi#28) — — — — (100) (100)
— Exchange loss on translation of —BEBNEBHBR
financial statements of foreign FMEREE
operations — — — (69) = (69)
Total comprehensive expense for & 9 2 [ B XX 4 4
the year — — — (69) (17,374) (17,443)
Balance at 31 March 2024 R2020E3F31B £t 15,840 31,564 5,474 (2) (17,606) 35,210
* The reserves accounts comprise the Group’s reserves of HK$19,430,000 (2023:  * HERLEAEERGEVBMRARPORE
HK$36,873,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 1#19,430,0007% T (20234F : 36,873,0007% JT) °

The notes on pages 68 to 167 are an integral part of these consolidated — ZE68Z 1675 F & Mff 5 Jh AN 4R & Bf 5 R R M9 4H AKX
financial statements. o -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERLRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

2024 2023
20245 20234F
HKS'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(Restated)
(r&E5)
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMBHLRE
Loss before income tax B& BT 15 B A fﬁﬁ' 1 (17,073) 9,169)
Adjustments for: N FIIE B (R R 3
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BMERZETE 10,291 10,103
Amortisation of intangible assets BREAESE 223 62
Interest income 2B A (19) (10)
Interest expenses I BHX 1,673 794
Other income HEa g A (510) (510)
COVID-19-related rent concessions received B4 COVID-19/E RS T & B R — (148)
Gain on termination of lease RIFrAEk R — (774)
Loss on modification of lease BIHECEE 128 —
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of a subsidiary WE—HNBAR 2 ZEBRB KRS (779) —
Provision for impairment of goodwill R (E A 8,694 14,732
Provision for/(Reversal of provision for) impairment of B 5 & E B U IELA N W B R
trade and other receivables and loan receivables, net R ER S (RERE) FE 330 (345)
Fair value gain on cash surrender value of life insurance )\7% SRR EAEN
DA BEN (a5) (65)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment ) % IR 5 B 5% 1 i 88 2 —
Operating cash flows before working capital changes BEESEPINCERERE 2915 14,670
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERL/(Em) 2429 (3913)
(Increasel/Decrease in trade and other receivables D5 R H A R W kB (8 hn) /R D (9.723) 2,480
Increase in loan receivables i B g (4,402) (9,65)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables = 5'1 B Ao A FRORIE 0 O 4) 6,794 (1,404)
Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities AHEBEMN/ CAD) 1,070 (2,294)
Cash used in operations LEET fﬁ@ (917) (119)
Income tax refunded/(paid) BiRE /(BB 976 (1,899)
Interest received 2 F & 19 10
Net cash from/{used in) operating activities HETERE S () FE 78 (2,008
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFBHESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE - ﬁ BER&E (153) (522)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEEVEE (847) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HEWE « ME K R E 5 F0E 6 —
Cash outflow arising on acquisition of a subsidiary Iz ,@ﬁ BHBARELEZE SR (281) —
Net cash used in investing activities REE BT 155 £3 /‘5 A (1,275) (522)
Cash flows from financing activities BRETBHRESRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITBEEMS ﬁ 51,503 31,323
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITIEE (37,693) (31,352)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEABNLS DS (8,158) (9,402)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBEBENF BT (653) (440)
Interests paid B Fl & (1,020) (354)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities BEETHE(H) B FE 3979 (10,225)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents E& KRB & ZEYE M (F D)
R 2,782 (12,755
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INETERE BN & (69) 49
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year REFIHE &fﬁ ZEM 9,479 22,185
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year ﬁ*iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ% 12,192 9,479
Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents BekBAeSBMEHRNIT
Bank balances RITHE 8 13,400 9,479
Bank overdraft RITEX (1,208) —
12,192 9,479

The notes on pages 68 to 167 are an integral part of these consolidated  Z568ZE 1678 Fr &l st I AN G A B A5 SR = 0948 %
financial statements. foy o

okt

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



68

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

GENERAL INFORMATION

Qi-House Holdings Limited (the “Company”), formerly known as
Tree Holdings Limited, was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's registered
office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business
is 28/F., Horizon Plaza, 2 Lee Wing Street, Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale,
distribution and rental of furniture and home accessories, distribution
and licencing of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling,
consulting and furniture agency services, the operation of a café. The
details of the principal activities of the Company's subsidiaries are
disclosed in note 14.

The directors consider the immediate and ultimate holding company
of the Company to be Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop“), a company
incorporated in Samoa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
were approved for issue by the board of directors on 21 June 2024.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”).

0I-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 =2 R G BR A A Annual Report S5 ¥R 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continved)

21

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

The material accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption
of new and amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note
2.2.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for cash surrender value of life
insurance which is carried at fair value. The measurement bases
are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on the management’s
best knowledge and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policy
(a)  New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 April 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new and amended HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations
and effective for the Group's consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April

2023:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two Model Rules

2. BEABSTHEME )

21

2.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(a)

(b)

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 April 2023 (Continued)

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material
impact on how the results and financial position for
the current and prior periods have been prepared and
presented.

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain amended HKFRSs have been
published but are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted early by the Group:

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and

BEX

HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants'
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements'

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

3 Effective date not yet determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of the
pronouncement. Information on amended HKFRSs that
are expected to have impact on the Group’s accounting
policies is provided below. Other amended HKFRSs are
not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”) and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 and
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)

The amendments provide further guidance to clarify how
to classify debt and other liabilities as current or non-
current which are summarised as follows:

° It clarifies that a liability is non-current if an entity
has a right (instead of unconditional right as stated
before the amendments) to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. This right has to be existed
at the end of the reporting period, regardless of
whether the lender tests for compliance at the
date or at a later date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”) and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 and
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants” ("2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

Any expectations about events after the reporting
period do not impact the assessment made at the
end of the reporting period as to the classification
of the liability; and

“Settlements” are newly defined as a transfer to
the counterparty that results in the extinguishment
of the liability. The transfer could be of cash,
other economic resources (e.g. goods or services),
or entity’s own equity instruments. Thus, if the
counterparty conversion option is classified as
liability under HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation”, the transfer of equity instruments
by exercising the conversion option constitute
settlement of liability for the purpose of current
or non-current classification of liabilities.
One exception to the definition is that if the
counterparty conversion option is classified as
equity in accordance with HKAS 32, the transfer
of equity instruments by exercising the conversion
option does not constitute settlement of liability
and would be disregarded when determining
whether the liability is current or non-current.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”) and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 and
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

2022 Amendments issued in 2022 clarified that only
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
which an entity must comply with on or before the
reporting date (even if the covenant is only assessed
after the reporting date) affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Those covenants to be
complied with after the reporting date do not affect such
classification at the reporting date.

Besides, the 2022 Amendments required an entity to
provide additional disclosure when a liability arising
from a loan agreement is classified as non-current and
the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on
compliance with future covenants within twelve months.

The 2022 Amendments also deferred the effective date
of the 2020 Amendments to the annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024, in which both
amendments are to be applied as a package and apply
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at
31 March 2024, the application of 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not result in reclassification of the
Group's liabilities.

2. EXEHERBEw

22 ST BEXEE (&)
(b) CEMEMKRERNE BB
RERER (E)
EB O ERF 15691557 K
[HEESEA B X mE]
(120204 (£ 3T ))& & & 22 7€
ELH I E T KA R B E
A?fﬁﬁf/”i%ﬂwfﬁﬁﬂ/fﬁ%
I B B 1 (20224 15
Elerj)(g)
7220224F B M #920226F (8 5] A
B BERERTHELEN
BERFH(EEBNARBRER
Hisk 2 BiBST - BF R HE
RIEABBIH) g e
ZABEBARDRIERDND
o BRMERMBETHR
HU T ERNREAENEH

aNy
7748

sboh - 2022FFEET R ER B 88
REXBEELENBEES S
RBIERDEEEEREELE
B F BUR B+ 1 A A T

RIRRHEEIR H BN PE -

20224 & 5] A 71 152020 18 &
Y A& R B B R & 20245
TRIEBS 2 kBN EERS
HfE - BEMIBEEETBER—
EEEERYAEBAERER
FFIRERER -

B & A 5 B R2024F 38310
HIAREEAE  ER020F &
WRFEBTATESAERE
BEWETHLE -

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



/4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(c)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implication of the Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF”) — Long Service Payment (“LSP")
offsetting mechanism

As disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, in June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR
Government (the “Government”) gazetted the Hong
Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “Amendment Ordinance”), which will take effect
on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"). The Amendment
Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to
offset LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date (the "Abolition”). In addition, the last
month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition Date
is used to calculate the portion of the LSP in respect of the
employment period before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 April 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 (the “Practical
Expedient”) to account for the offsetable MPF benefits
as deemed employee contributions to reduce the current
service costs in the period in which the related services
were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” (“the Guidance”) that
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting
mechanism and the impact arising from the abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(c)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implication of the Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF”) — Long Service Payment (“LSP")
offsetting mechanism (Continued)

By following the Guidance, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP obligations.
As a result of the Abolition, these contributions are no
longer considered “linked solely to the employee’s service
in that period” since the employer's mandatory MPF
contribution after the Transition Date can still be used
to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore,
the Group ceased to apply the Practical Expedient and
reattribute the deemed employee contributions to periods
of service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit
by applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19. This change
in accounting policy upon the cessation in applying the
Practical Expedient has resulted in a catch-up adjustment
in profit or loss in June 2022 for the service cost up to
that date and consequential impacts on current service
cost, interest expense and remeasurement effects from
changes in actuarial assumptions for the rest of 2022
(see note 28), with the corresponding adjustment to
the carrying amount of the LSP obligations during the
year ended 31 March 2023. This change in accounting
policy did not have any impact on the opening balance
of equity as at 1 April 2022. The Group has assessed
the implications of this new Guidance on the above
accounting policy and the Guidance has a material impact
on how the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or presented
in these annual financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BEABSTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (continved) 22 S HEREE )

(c) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting (c) EERFMLE(RES)
implication of the Mandatory Provident Fund EREBRKEe(REREL)
(“MPF”) — Long Service Payment (“LSP") HARHENEENTESS
offsetting mechanism (Continued) FTER ARSI (&)

This change in accounting policy has been applied ZEABRREHEEBEINR
retrospectively by restating the balances as at 31 March 20233 H3H K 4 &4 1 3B 9 FE
2023. The following table summarises the impacts of the Ao FERBM R A IE S| HARE
adoption of the Guidance on the comparatives presented FelEmkEMEEKER
in the Group'’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and KERE MR R KR ZINHLR
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement HFTHTE -
of financial position.
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 202343 H31H By 47 & 81 it
31 March 2023 J &K
Carrying amount Restated carrying
as at 31 March amount as at
2023 (before the  Impact of adoption 31 March 2023
adoption) of the Guidance  (after the adoption)
FA20235 2023 3A31E
3A31E (D) FaEsl (F )8
MRRAE wE KEIREE
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FHET
Current assets RBEE
Tax recoverable AT A R 1623 (83) 1540
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables E5REMERNRE 22,852 (1318) 21534
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other payables Htb R HE — 201 201
Equity i
Reserves 1E 35,839 1,034 36,673

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 753X #2 B 5 FR A & Annual Report £ %R 2024




17

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXESHHEMESw)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued) 22 EFHEREE 2
New HKICPA guidance on the accounting c) EBHRFHELIBS(REL)
implication of the Mandatory Provident Fund ERARBEE(RERKL]D)
(“MPF”) — Long Service Payment (“LSP") Bt amr s ENNEEe
offsetting mechanism (Continued) SR AEIESI (&)
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other R2023F3A31H 89 47 4 1B 75 K
comprehensive income for the year ended Hh 2 [E W
31 March 2023
Original amount Impact of Restated
(before the adoption of amount (after
adoption) the Guidance the adoption)
RAEH sl gE5eE
(T e 154 (Ftng)
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FET
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSERERX (33.243) 1,153 (32,090)
Administrative expenses THHEX (22,518) (29) (22,547)
Finance costs BB A (794) (5) (799)
Loss before income tax BEERAER (10,288) 1119 (9,169
Income tax expense EREY (762) (83) (845)
Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of AN R 5 A B15
the Company FENEE (11,050) 1,036 (10,014)
Other comprehensive income for the year AREERFAAEN
attributable to equity holders of the Company ~ F R E {1 2 K % 49 (2) 4
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted EAREE HKS$(0.70)& 7T HKS0.07/%8 7T HK$(0.63)7% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFHEBES)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continved) 22 S EBRXEE 2
(¢)  New HKICPA guidance on the accounting ) FBERHELABE(RES)
implication of the Mandatory Provident Fund HREBRFES(REREL)
(“MPF") — Long Service Payment (“LSP") Hr#tH e ENTERS
offsetting mechanism (Continued) e A (E)
The following table summarises the impacts of the T ZRAE i AN S B W £ D E X
adoption of the Guidance on the Group's consolidated Fraft i 8 & 5T BSR4 4B IR
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive & B g st % A 51957 5593(b)
income for the year ended 31 March 2024 and BHRHAITRE A - BIEEA
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 TR Sl AR & B # 220243 A31
March 2024, if the Group had not changed its accounting ALFEENGEeEm REME
policy as noted above and had continued to apply the U 2 3R A K 720243 A318
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19: iR e BRI RO
Consolidated statement of financial position as at R2024F3 531 47 & 81 B A L
31 March 2024 *
Carrying amount Carrying amount
as at 31 March Impactof  asat31 March
2024 (before the  adoption of the 2024 (after the
adoption) Guidance adoption)
R202453A318 R202453A318
€3 bl g5l (Bm#)
EEE mEe MEREE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000
FET FET FET
Current liabilities nBAE
Trade and other payables BHREMERNRE 32,691 (1,246) 31,445
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other payables Hib R R — 281 281
Equity E&
Reserves f# 18,465 965 19,430

0I-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 =2 R G BR A A Annual Report S5 ¥R 2024




/9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFHEBEL)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued) 22 SHHEEH 2
(c) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting c) EBHRFHELIBS(REL)
implication of the Mandatory Provident Fund ERARBEE(RERKL]D)
(“MPF”) — Long Service Payment (“LSP") Bt amr s ENNEEe

offsetting mechanism (Continued)
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

STEAE IS (E)
B Z2024F3A31H 4 & 18 25 ]

comprehensive income for the year ended H M 2 E W 7 &
31 March 2024
Impact of
Amount (before  adoption of the Amount (after the
the adoption) Guidance adoption)
8 H sl &8
(% & A mEe (@)
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FAET FET
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSERERX (30,370) (20) (30,390)
Administrative expenses TR % (25,644) (21) (25,665)
Finance costs HHBAA (1,662) (1) (1,673)
Loss before income tax BAERAER (17,021) (52) (17,013)
Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of AN R ##EH A FB1E
the Company ERNEAR (17,222) (52) (17,219)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AREERFEAAEN
attributable to equity holders of the Company ~ FAEM2EHE X (69) (100) (169)
2.3 Basis of consolidation 23 FERENEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary
in the consolidated financial statements from the date it gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from the Group’s perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by

the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary
is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable

costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or

loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Acquisitions of subsidiaries

EXRSTEHRBEw®

24 WEEMIB AR

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets include an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. The acquired process is considered
substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, and the inputs acquired include an organised workforce
with necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that
process or it significantly contributes to the ability to continue
producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Consideration transferred as part of a business combination does
not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. The gain or loss on the settlement of any pre-
existing relationship is recognised in profit or loss.

EBAas

PN ESV T 229 R 7N
R-REBAHTPHEBENRERR
REBEFE TARBEDEAS
BfEENEE  AEERREES
REEAEENABERAEER/R
#W%%HWTM%%%H%&%
RKERO AR EBENERETE - K
%ﬁ%&$m§$%EEmA%

BECRBE-AEHLREERRE A
éf&ﬁ&—ﬁfgﬂﬁ*ﬁﬁ%
BAHBIEELNENEERER/
AIXAEEEEED KRB —RER -
B RIE BB EE N
ZEHEZ TEMWBOHRABE
BERATZBEMUGFOREE - &
AEEBNERED N HYHE
TEELNENEERER AR
REBEBBRAHR  NEBERK
K -BHAFELEELGEIHR
FEEMIBERT AATE ©

REBAHPRBORBINEEN
RERENABRIABBENBERR
Wig By D A BER E (D BBIIME
SLERSI)

HAEEMTHRARBE@ANSBITETA
EREFEH MBI EERE -
HEEMBTEERNERHNER
R o

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



82

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition—date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.

Where the consideration the Group transferred in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the measurement
period about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one
year from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting
for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not subsequently
remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.

Contingent consideration classified as a financial liability is
subsequently remeasured at each reporting dates at fair value

with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24

2.5

Acquisitions of subsidiaries (Continued)

Asset acquisitions

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are assessed
to determine if they are business or asset acquisitions. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group chooses to apply a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is an asset rather than business acquisition, when
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar
identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed do not
constitute a business, the overall acquisition cost is allocated
to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition. An exception is
when the sum of the individual fair values of the identifiable
assets and liabilities differs from the overall acquisition cost. In
such case, any identifiable assets and liabilities that are initially
measured at an amount other than cost in accordance with the
Group's policies are measured accordingly, and the residual
acquisition cost is allocated to the remaining identifiable assets
and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date of
acquisition.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
("HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continusd)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated
using the exchange rates at the transaction date). When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit
or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a
non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in

other comprehensive income.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group's presentation currency,
have been converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average
rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in equity.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of-
use assets as described in Note 2.14) are initially recognised
at acquisition cost. They are subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if

any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures and

office equipment
Motor vehicles

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set

out in Note 2.14.

Estimates of residual value and useful life are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

2.1

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance,
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an
asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually for impairment (Note 2.19).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Website development costs

Costs that are directly attributable to development of specific
websites, which include external direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing the website are recognised
as intangible assets provided they meet all of the following
recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(ii) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be
reliably measured.

Capitalised website development costs with finite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.
Research and other development costs relating to website
development and website maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)
Trademarks

2.9

Trademarks are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, the trademarks with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. Amortisation
commences when the trademarks are available for use. The
amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Money lender licence
Money lender licence with indefinite useful lives is carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are
tested for impairment as described below in Note 2.19.

Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value, in case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL
are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as
hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories:

—  amortised cost;

—  FVTPL; or

— fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity’s business model for managing the financial
asset; and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within “Finance costs”,
“Other income” or other financial items, except for expected
credit losses (“ECL’) of trade and other receivables and loan
receivables which is presented as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEE )
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

29 €W IR

Financial assets (Continued) SREEE)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets THEENAEE
Debt investments BERHEE

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets
meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

—  they are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual
cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in “other income” in profit or
loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting
is immaterial. The Group's trade and other receivables, loan
receivables and bank balances and cash fall into this category of
financial assets.

Financial assets at FV/TPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model
other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell’ are
categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model,
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
The Group's cash surrender value of life insurance falls into this
category of financial assets.

TREENTANUTERME (BT EE
ERBEBEREAAREEIIRK) B
B A B

— EBERBEEERETREE
WWERE AR TR EBE
BRFAE: R

— TREEMNAOERELNR
ERMERINAERREER
REWHNE -

NEERE  ZFEEDERE
A LR BHENATE - ZFEE
BEEMNNEWAFTABEANNHE
WALl FRMFEITK - AlES
B o AEBNE SN HEM R RIE -
EWEFARBITERRBETBR
HEERMEE -

BBBRBRNEEINRE
BE

A 5 1F WA J 38 45 1F AR Je th 6
MO TN RAEBERAFTENE B
BEDRREBBERANEET
fR-BE TwHEBRERMF &
MBERTEERIN RS KB
WEMEEDAEBERRARE
BEIENTAAR - REBASR
SHBENRSEEBERNLESRE
= o

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



90

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, lease liabilities and contingent consideration
payable.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for
transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability
at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives which are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships and financial liabilities
designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value
with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instrument's fair value that are reported in profit or loss are
included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

29

210

Financial instruments (Continved)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Bank borrowings

Bank borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Bank borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the bank borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Contingent consideration payable

Contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value
at the end of each reporting period with gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”. Instruments
within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial
assets measured at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)
In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made

between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or

that have low credit risk (“Stage 1"); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit

risk is not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective

evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while
“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial

instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential
for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience and external
indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the

debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. ERBTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

210 EMEERE R

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for loan receivables and
other receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with
the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or technological
environment that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)
Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its

contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when (i) information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group); or (ii) the
loan and interest receivables and other financial asset is 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion

is more appropriate.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in

Note 34.2.

2.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary

course of business less applicable selling expenses.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flow
presentation, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts
which are repayment on demand and form an integral part of the

Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

213

214

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract
meets three key evaluations which are whether:

° the contracts contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified
by being identified at the time the asset is made available
to the Group;

° the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

° the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct ‘'how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of warehouse, office and shop premises in
which the Group is a lessee, the Group elected not to separate
non-lease components and will instead account for the lease and

non-lease components as a single lease component.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-
line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of
the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of
the lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental

borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXESHHEMESw)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
payments based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

° there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

° the lease payments changes due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
modification. The only exception is any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and
recognised the change in consideration as if it were not a lease

modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-

of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease

term of 12 months or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments

and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

214

215

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or
finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does
not.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sub-leases as two separate contracts. The
sub-leases are classified as a finance or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
not with reference to the underlying asset. If the head lease is
a short-term lease to which the Group applies the short-term
lease exemption, then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an
operating lease.

The Group sub-leases one of its properties and the sub-lease
contract is classified as operating leases.

Other than rental income from sub-lease of properties, the Group
also earns rental income from operating leases of furniture and
home accessories. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.16 Share capital

217

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deducted from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs
directly attributable to the equity transaction.

Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sale, distribution and rental of
furniture and home accessories, distribution and licencing of
intellectual property rights, the provision of styling, consulting
and furniture agency services, the operation of a café and the
provision of consumer loan services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a
5-step process:

1. |dentifying the contract with a customer
2. Identifying the performance obligations
3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)
are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for
a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXAEFEHEME R
POLICIES (Continued)
2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

217 WEBR (2

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of furniture and home accessories

Revenue from the sale of furniture and home accessories is
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers the
control of the assets to the customers upon delivery.

Food and beverage income

Food and beverage income from the operation of a café is
recognised at a point in time when the related services are
rendered to the customers.

Commission income

Commission income from (i) consignment sales are recognised
at a point in time when the goods are sold by the Group; and (ii)
furniture agency services is recognised at a point in time when
the services are performed.

Consulting income
Consulting income is recognised at a point in time when the
services are performed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

217

218

219

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
ECL allowance) of the asset.

Rental income
Accounting policies for rental income are set out in note 2.14.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under
“Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and the Company's investment in a subsidiary are subject
to impairment testing.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life
or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount
may not be recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXSHEBRBE
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

219 FEMEERES)

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested
at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of
the related business combination and represent the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpose and not be larger than an operating
segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

2.20 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans. In addition, the employees employed under
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance are also entitled to LSP if
the eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the MPF Schemes Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”),
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries.

The LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is the present value of the LSP obligation at the
end of the reporting period.

The Group estimates the LSP obligations annually with the
assistance of independent actuaries. This is based on the
discount rate, the salary growth rate, turnover rate and the
expected investment return on offsetable MPF accrued benefits.
Discount factors are determined close to the end of each annual
reporting period by reference to high quality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be
paid and have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related defined benefit liahility.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFEHRBE

POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Employee benefits (continved) 220 EEEA (2

Retirement benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

° service cost (including current and past service cost, and
gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);

° net interest expense or income; and
o remeasurement.

Service cost on the Group’s defined benefit plan is included in
employee benefits expense. Employee contributions, all of which
are independent of the number of years of service, are treated as
a reduction of service cost.

Net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability is
included in Finance costs.

Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements of the net
defined benefit liability, comprising actuarial gains and losses,
are included in other comprehensive income and are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulative compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

BB F(E)
RERMEARTIEED R

e BREMA(BEEHRBER
BARA - AR BN & E R IR
mRER)

o FMERMXHKAFE R

EHAE -

7R 5 B 57 E 18 B AT & R0 AR 75 A AR 5
ABEBRMFAN - REHR(Z2HBE
IB/Q\ 54 H1) 4% 18 /5 AR 7% B 2SR
b

\

REBMNEENF BFASFRTA
TSR

BN ERERNECFRELN
WahkBERERFERENER)
AAHEMEEK RS B RNER
HEHBEEES -

EHEERER
BREZEFROENNEERES
RERKER AEEREEEE
HBEBHA L REORBEAE SN
B FREEFELBE -

HRFABHERG(WMEBREER)
REEXBRME T GMHER -

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



106

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Employee henefits (continued)
Equity-settled share-based compensation

In January 2018, the Group adopted a Share Option Scheme (as
defined in Note 27) under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for
the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of options granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions; and including the

impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. The
Group recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share

premium.

2.21 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. ERBTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Accounting for income tax

222 FTIBHiEFTER

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit, including existing taxable temporary differences, will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or
the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable
income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable
income of the periods in which the temporary differences are

EXDECtEd to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences will
reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit in those years.

The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary

differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net

if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the

recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current

tax assets against current tax liabilities; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(b)

(i)

(ii)

the same taxable entity; or

different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

2.23 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
makers (the “CODM"). The CODM, who are responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that

make strategic decisions.

2.24 Related parties
For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

2.

BEAESHTHEME S

222 FiIBBigsTREE %)
b) EEFIEEGERECHESRRE
ToRBR e A — R MBI R LA T
1 fa] — TE 44 5 ) P19 R -

il R-—ERHEE: X

(i) BRERKEHEGZHA
TEHIHS B (B S KR
MIETHBERRKEE)
VA% B A S BRI H A
HABEREEXRAKE
REENRBERENT
R T B B8

o

223 D EBE
CESHMARAEBLEREER
HHRBRE BT R2W B
EPRBRRIHELHBEIL
FBEEREE BB AL B
REMITES o

224 BB
RAGAMBREMS  £HMG
ATHMER  BEEARAEES
B -

@) AR BALTHZAWIEI
oMz A

) HAKEFZH#EIK
(R ¥ 1) 4

i) HARBEEATEN:
(17

(i) ARAEEFEFARE
ZEEABMKE -

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



110

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Related parties (Continued)
(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

Estimation of goodwill impairment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.19. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates about future cash flows and discount rates. In the
process of estimating expected future cash flows, management makes
assumptions about future revenues and profits. These assumptions
relate to future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary
and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill
within the next financial year. Determining the appropriate discount rate
involves estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for
asset specific risk factors. Details of the estimates of the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units containing goodwill are disclosed in
Note 15.

Allowance for inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the actual or estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor
actions in response to changes in market condition. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are
disclosed in Note 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the executive directors are

3. CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 3. EAGMAFRAE 2
JUDGEMENTS (continved)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued) TR EM #)
Estimation of impairment of trade receivables and other BEREEMBRELEAEINEHREES
financial assets at amortised cost within the scope of ECL under BEERNE S EWRRE R IR H R KT
HKFRS 9 SRV EL b € Bh & E R E Y 5T
The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including trade AEEBEREYRBEBRE REHEEX
and other receivables, and loan receivables) based on assumptions MWEHREERBEERREESLEME
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses WHREAREBKREF)TRER - ~AEE
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to RIEHZERZRRETRETEEMAR
the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing AHER  2RBASEATLRS BT
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of TR R & s B AR R A IS (5 8 (]
each reporting period as set out in Note 2.10. As at 31 March 2024, the KT 5E2.10) 38 B ¥ B - 1R2024F 38318
carrying amount of trade and other receivables and loan receivables B 5 R EMERGRIEN R EREFRE
amounted to HK$44,417,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$138,000) &R D B A44.4170008 ST (BB B HE
(2023: HK$34,004,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$110,000)) & B 15 144%138,0007% 7T )X(20234F : 34,004,000
and HK$14,808,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$337,000) (2023: 7 7T (2 1B 78 81 1= & /5 18 1/ #£110,00078
HK$10,708,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$35,000)) respectively. T0)) BA %214,808,0007% 7T (B HNFR TEHIE & &
18 £ 45,337,000 7T )(20234F : 10,708,000% 7T
(BB TEBAE B B 18 #35,00008 7T)) ©
When the actual future cash flows are different from expected, EERRRREREGRNNTERRR - H=E
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other ST EATHREHEBNE BN ER
receivables within the scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in HHEAEIREHEEEREREANESI R
the periods in which such estimate has been changed. HERRBNERHEREEBSE -
4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. Wz Ko EHEFR
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment ERARTESERUAHEERTLAER
information based on the regular internal financial information reported BEBEAXNT>MERSEREMZSE

MARE DRI EMABUBEER - A%
BBEBNEESBEERHLIBEN - MH
TEZE2ZHRNOAMI B ER AN EBKAK
HOTDKRAEBENEIREMLMIGRE

==

determined following the Group’s major product and service lines. TE °

The Group has identified the following three (2023: three) reportable REBEEHAAT =18 (20235 : ={&) /] 2

segments: HwoEp -

. Furniture sale and consultancy services: the sale, distribution e REAHERZHARS RARRE
and rental of furniture and home accessories, distribution and BLEmsHE - DI REE - 2 ERET

licencing of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling
and consulting services and the operation of a café.

0I-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 =2 R G BR A A Annual Report S5 ¥R 2024

FEMMBERE  REHKRARED
IR 755 DA B 48 & — D o OF 58



4.

113

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEEDEBER 2
(Continued)
. Furniture agency services: the provision of furniture agency e EFARER®: REXRAKRKEBERS
services
. Consumer loan services: the provision of consumer loan services e HEEZERRG REEEEEN
Ak 7
Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of HRBSEREBRBEEEETRERIUAR
the product and service lines requires different resources as well as MGHES L MZELESBZEBL
marketing approaches. EIE o
The measurement policies the Group used for reporting segment results KEBBIEE BN EREERFIRLE
under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are the same as those used in DEIB B E S EERANG 2B A
its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that income REEEVBREEARFREOTBRE
tax expense and corporate income and expenses which are not directly FrEEREMER - EEHRASIARILIEER
attributable to the business activities of any reportable segment are not ZERBNEMAZ2RS BHEBIBHNA
included in arriving at the operating results of the reportable segment. AWMARASTRERAIZ2HR D BHLE
XERFITIARELA -
Reportable segment assets exclude cash surrender value of life AERDFEETERBEASRENRELD
insurance, deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, bank balances and cash REeEE BREHBEE - ATEIFRK -
and unallocated corporate assets (mainly include certain right-of-use RITHEBEBEURKRIBERARIEE(E
assets, certain intangible assets and certain other receivables). CERETHERAEEE BETEREEER
ATEAMERFKIE) -
Reportable segment liabilities exclude tax payable and unallocated AE2/HHFERETEEEMNTIE KRR E
corporate liahilities (mainly include certain lease liabilities and certain AEBE(FEREETHEAEARET
other payables). o fth B {58 ©
The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 to the REBEEZEEREE I W= M
consolidated financial statements. BEE o
The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows: AEBRFRBEROWZWT
2024 2023
2024 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHAWE
Sale of furniture and home accessories BERRERMEE 57,414 69,398
Food and beverage income B &R A 3,656 3,374
Commission income HEBA 3,845 5,306
64,915 78,078
Revenue from other sources Hfth 3R R UK &=
Rental income el A 50 116
64,965 78,194
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers within the scope of HKFRS 15
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over
time and at a point in time in the following geographical market:

WEEDEHER @

KB RMBHRELER S5
BRANEFENKE

7 55 B ) Mt R 0 T 1 558 i
RRE— BRI S @ R RS -

2024 2023
2024 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET

Timing of revenue recognition W %5 7 R
At a point in time RE— R E 64,915 78,078

Geographical markets it & %

— Hong Kong — BB 62,798 75,920
— The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") —EARKEME(HE]D 2,117 2,158
64,915 78,078

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no single customer
contributed 10% or more of the Group's revenue.

As at 31 March 2024, 83.5% (2023: 96.4%) of the Group's gross trade
receivables was due from a single customer in the furniture agency
services segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHERDBER 2
(Continued)
Furniture
sale and Furniture
consultancy agency Consumer
services services  loanservices  Unallocated Total
HRAHER HE HEE
EARK KBRS EXRE AR @t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FAET FAT FAT FET FET
2024 WUE
Reportable segment revenue from external customers 7R B 588 & F #Y 7] 247 5 45
W& 61,700 3,265 — — 64,965
Interest income from loan receivables e EFF B A - - 5,366 — 5,366
Reportable segment loss DERGE 3~ (3573) (1,092) 978 — 9,687)
Reportable segment assets NERHHEE 107 36,00 16,100 - .21
Reportable seqment liabilities BE LRS-t 32,980 3943 679 = 57,602
Depreciation ik 9,075 — 609 607 10,291
Amorisation 313 m - - - m
Finance costs FBHAR 1115 418 ] [} 1673
Additions to non-current segment assets (other than £ RREFRB A HEE
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) (ERIAREERBEE
during the year ERM 6,66 - - 2239 9,105
Loss on modification of lease BiIHEZER 128 - - - 128
Provision for impairment of goodwill EERERE — 8,694 — — 8694
Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables & 5 & £t UL TR IE A Tt fE
and loan receivables, net BEFRRERETE — i) 302 = 30
Furniture
sale and Furniture
consultancy agency Consumer
services services loan services Unallocated Total
HAHER KA HEE
AR RERB SRS KR FoH)
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(7)) (BE7)
2023 0235
Reportable seqment revenue from external customers K ESNERE M A 265 &
K& 73097 5097 - - 78,19
Interest income from loan receivables FEUEFHFIEHMA — — 5770 — 5710
Reportable segment profit/[loss) A2%5B5EF/(EB) 6,012 [12753) 3,689 - (3052)
Reportable segment assets UERNFEE 35,057 38,567 12,443 — 86,067
Reportable segment liabilities PES: LR 20,084 042 1076 — 13,602
Depreciation il 952 — 578 — 10,103
Amartisation B 62 — — — 62
Finance costs FBHA 505 % k1 - 7%
Additions to non-current segment assets [other than~ FRRE FER BN BEE
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) (ERIAREERBEE
during the year ERMN 9790 - - - 9790
Gain on termination of lease BIERER S (774) — — — (774)
Provision for impairment of goodwill BEREAE - 14732 - - 14732
Reversal of provision for impairment of trade and & 5 & £L{th fE W SO I i B
other receivables and loan receivables, net WEFHRERERD
B . (380) 35 - (345)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

4, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHZRDBER 2
(Continued)
Reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities are reconciled to results EWmoHEN  EERBGEHEASERN
and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as follows: % ia UERBEERGLABRHEROT
2024 2023
2024F 20234F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&5
Reportable segment loss A2 W A EE (9,687) (3.052)
Unallocated amounts: KB FOA -
— Corporate income and expense — 2R ARAX (8,165) (6,117)
— Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of WiE—fHNB AR 2&E
a subsidiary BE R 7719 —
Loss hefore income tax BRETEHAIEE (17,073) (9,169)
Reportable segment assets AIZRDEEE 81,211 86,067
Unallocated assets: D EE BE:
— Cash surrender value of life insurance — ASREBNBOESEE 2,023 1978
— Deferred tax assets —BERIEEE 374 416
— Tax recoverable — AT Bl 5 1E 398 1,540
— Bank balances and cash — RIT4 ﬁ% ERE 12,192 9,479
— Unallocated corporate assets — RKPBEAREE 10,608 228
Total assets BEE 106,806 99,708
Reportable segment liabilities AIZF%HEaE 57,602 43,602
Unallocated liabilities: Ao AaE:
— Unallocated corporate liabilities — RN BERRAEE 13,934 3,393
Total liabilities =R 71,536 46,995
The revenue from external customers and its non-current assets (other AEBEBRBINSIEFPHREMIERBEE
than financial instruments and deferred tax assets) of the Group are (EMTARBELEHEEERINEID A
divided into the following geographical areas: i
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REITFEF U R kREBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20234 20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET F&r
Hong Kong BB 62,848 76,036 1,721 22,615
The PRC s 2,117 2,158 1,630 —
64,965 78,194 13,351 22,615
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

The geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods delivered.

The geographical location of non-current assets is based on the physical

location of the asset and the location of the operations to which they are
allocated in the case of intangible assets and goodwill.

WEEDEHER @

EFMMBUERNRERRRBEXER M
HWEASER

FRBDEENMEUENEEMEHN L
HMRER EEVEERBENERLTA
NEFBE BN B R ER -

OTHER INCOME 5, Hfulg A
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
F#E T FET
Bank interest income IRITH BUYA 19 10
Exchange gain, net P W U == 0% 58 569 —
COVID-19-related rent concessions received 2 U COVID-1948 B8 72 & &= Rk — 148
Gain on termination of lease 28 Uz — 774
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of a g — MM B AR Z
subsidiary (Note 35) (B W BB W = (B 7235) 779 —
Government grants (Note) BB (B 7E) — 1,508
Sundry income B A 1,090 860
Interest income from loan receivables FEU B KA B A 5,366 5,770
1,823 9,070
Note: o

The amount represents government grants in respect of COVID-19 related
subsidies, which includes subsidies under the Employment Support Scheme under
the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government for the year ended

31 March 2023.

% ER R £ 20233 A31H L4 A BICOVID-19
HEAY (BREBERTRAR LG ERERE
ETHRMEFEDWKF B -

FINANCE COSTS 6. BFFER A
2024 2023
20245 2023
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITEEFBRX 1,009 354
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEABENTB I 653 440
Net interest expense on LSP obligations REARBEEHNFE
B 52 % FR 1 5
1,673 799
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

Note:

7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 1. BRETESHAIER
Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRETS R AIEIE MR GEA) AT &
BB EN
2024 2023
2024 20234F
HK$000 HK$ 000
FE T FET
Auditor's remuneration % SED B &
— Audit services — BZR 750 710
— Non-audit services —EEZR 37 28
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BREAINFEERAR 25,909 26,108
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BEREZEBEINE
— Owned assets —BEBEE 421 510
— Right-of-use assets —(TREEE 9,864 9,593
Amortisation of intangible assets mLAEEH 223 62
Lease charges: HMESH:
— Short term leases — R HAE 58 208
— COVID-19-related rent concessions received — B2 Y2 COVID-194E B &

(Note) BR (M aE) — (148)
Provision for impairment of goodwill PERERE 8,694 14,732
Provision for/(Reversal of provision for) impairment 2 5 & £ fth &8 U 3k 78 #1

of trade and other receivables and loan FEWE R REREE

receivables, net (BERED) FH 330 (345)
Net exchange (gain)/loss N (s BEFE (569) 562
Gain on termination of lease LIEHEE W e — (774)
Loss on modification of lease B HEZER 128 —
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of a WiE—HMBAR 2

subsidiary (Note 35) 2 (B W W s (A 7235) (779) —
Fair value gain on cash surrender value of life ASRBHEBEORSEER

insurance AAEERE (45) (65)

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions” and Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021 and applied the practical expedients introduced by the
amendments to all eligible rent concessions received by the Group. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, the rent concessions received by the Group are in the
form of a discount on fixed payments during the period of severe social distancing
and travel restriction measures introduced to prevent the spread of COVID-19.

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

REBEERNESU B RELENBHKOEST
A[Covid- 19 S BRI KB BT IR E %R
51657 B & 5T A8 [202146 A 30 B 4 # Covid-1948 3
MEeBER) THAEBWEBHNHMEAEKH
SERERZSEITASIANERETHZE -
KRB E023F3ANALEFE - A5 E KR HE
& BB A 2 2 7R A& By LECOVID-19 85 4% M 4 Bk
*%%iff;ﬁ%&&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ&%lﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬂFEﬁ - BLEE R 3R
BT e

BRERARX(BEESMH
%)

2024 2023

20244 20234

HKS$000 HK$ 000

FETT FET

(Restated)

(&=&5)

Salaries, bonus and allowances e B M= 25,045 26,952
Contributions to defined contribution pension ATRRKREHEAGEORS

schemes 8 903

25,886 27,855
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continved)
At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future

EEEANHEZ(BREEMNE)
(%)

20244 20233 A31H » AEFE W ER
R UL SR AT R R R F E R R IRE 5T

years. R o
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIBFHHEX
2024 2023
2024 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(Restated)
(& E5))
Current tax B HA Bt 18
— Hong Kong —&BE
Current year KEEF 305 533
(Qver)/Under provision in respect of prior years BEFE(BEES)
EESR (179) 262
126 795
— Overseas — o
Current year KEF 33 —
Deferred tax IE B 18
Current year (Note 24) REFZ (N it 24) 42 50
Total income tax expense Frisfimz sz 201 845
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable HERYEZERARETEN S EE
tax rates is as follow: HOETRRZA T -
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FE T
(Restated)
(=&E=5))
Loss hefore income tax MRETEBHAIER (17,073) (9,169)
Tax on loss before income tax, calculated at the BRATS BRI BB IE (R
applicable rates to profits in the tax jurisdictions HEHEREEREAR
concerned = AR B R EE) (2,876) (1,456)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBBRANT B2 (140) (516)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DGR a0k %A 2,356 2,638
Tax effect of two-tiered tax regime T 75 W A bl B9 B % 2 & (165) (83)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERRIEEENN B E 1,205 —
(Over)/Under provision in respect of prior years BEFE (BEEE)BE
e (179) 262
Income tax expense P58 5 2 201 845
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

10.

yearended 31 March 2024 8 £ 20453ANA L FE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has tax losses of approximately
HK$7,230,000 (2023: HK$nil) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the Group. No deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of these losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

Notes:

(a) Cayman Islands income tax
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

(b) British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) income tax
The Company’s direct subsidiary was incorporated under the BVI
Business Companies Act, 2004 and accordingly, is exempted from BVI
income tax.

(c) Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023 is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profits for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a
qualifying corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of
profits of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%.

(d) PRC enterprise income tax
Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in the PRC has
been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 March 2024, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof. The statutory
tax rate was 25% (2023: 25%) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

No provision for PRC enterprise income tax has been made as the
Company’s indirect subsidiary established in the PRC did not generate
any estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 March 2023.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company of HK$17,274,000 (2023: loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$10,014,000) and on
the weighted average number of 1,584,000,000 (2023: 1,584,000,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share as there were
no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.
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Wit

(a) HEHBHREH
ARABRBEHAEHERTENASEHS
AMRLSERRERAR - FUEHR
RHMAFSHEMER -

(b) HBEERABESREH
AABREENE QA TR 12004 F %
BHBMRREEERRREMAKRY
HWEREBRNEBERAESER -

(c) BHBFNEH

HE2024FR2023F3ANBILFENE S
1S TR To 1% & R 5T R B R 7 /9
16.5% 5T & - HEAEE B AFRF
BERMEHS THEAEEE QAR - F£7)
BHRMEHNT  aEREEE2888T
HER R R A8.25% - B2 E BB TR
FF = B16.5% ©

(d FECEFRSH
AEBEBTRGCEEBNMEHBEE
TRBIRITAN 2B REBEER &
HE204FIANA L FEMGH TR
A EARERE - BIE202443A318
IEFERE ER R A25% (20234 : 25%) °
ARARBRPBREKZAFEENRE AR
REE203F3ANBILFET BEEET
st ERBEF - WL EETRPE D
KRBT AEE -

BREE

BREABEEDERE Z2024F3A318 1
FEARTER A AFEGE 117,274,000
BT (20235 AR EFBARLEIE
10,014,000 7T ) & B8 17 & 38 AR hnE 49 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

N EEMERTEEETFMAL

[
a) ESME

RIZGEM EM R A~ BARRHEBIE
WMNERAR (RBEEENEER)
ROIF 2R RENEEMES T

Other emoluments

Hitt &
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme
Fees  allowances contributions Total
RAKER
e HERER STEHRR @t
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
k3 FHET FET FHET FHET
2024 20245
Executive directors: UiTES:
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington
Z+ 312 2,095 40 2447
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BELE il 2520 — % 2,544
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak rEEEE 1,320 — % 1,344
Mr. Bian Dahai BREEE (i) 240 — — 240
Mr. Bian Hongjiang BRATRE (i) 53 — — 53
Mr. Jiao Dejun BEERAE (iv) 54 — — 54
Independent non-executive directors: BIYFHTESE:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth HEERLE 160 — — 160
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BERAE 160 — — 160
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXREE 160 — — 160
4,979 2,095 88 1,162
2023 2023F
Executive directors: BOES:
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington
zZt 312 2217 18 2547
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EELAE (il 2,520 — — 2,520
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak hERLE 1320 — — 1320
Mr. Bian Dahai BABEE (i) 174 — — 174
Mr. Bian Hongjiang BRTIRE (i) 107 — — 107
Independent non-executive directors: BYFHTES:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth BRELE 160 — — 160
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin LEBERE 160 — — 160
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXREE 160 — — 160
4913 2217 18 7148
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 1.
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Conzinved)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Tong Tang Joseph was also the chief executive officer.

(ii) Mr. Bian Dahai was redesignated from a non-executive director
to an executive director on 21 October 2022.

(iii) Mr. Bian Hongjiang was appointed as an executive director on 21
October 2022 and resigned on 20 June 2023.

(iv) Mr. Jiao Dejun was appointed as an executive director on 10
January 2024.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three (2023: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
aggregate emoluments payable to the remaining two (2023: two)
individuals during the year are as follows:

EEMERAEBRSHFMAL

M€ )
(a) EEME 2
B -

(b)

(i) FERETRITHRER -

(ii) 32 K8 S R2022F10 A21H B 9
PITESHTARNTES -

(i) BT R AER202FI0/21HEZS
EANITEEL HN2023F6A208 &F
£ o

(iv) BIEE AR 20UFIAI0BEZ(T
BHITES -

R £20244 %2023 3A318 IE F
E T EAEARREENERR
ERETWHHOLHE -

LEBREFHATHE
AEBFRATERSFMALRE
oA F =R EE A
REX2F0HTRB - BEFA
FEAY 82T & (2023%F &) A8
MEmEmT

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e KkEM 1,054 1,309
Discretionary bonus BB IE 4L — 82
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREF T & R 36 36
1,090 1,427

The emoluments fell within the following bands: B2 T LA T EE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234

Emolument bands B & &3

Nil — HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0007% T 2 2

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any directors or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. ¥ BERRXRE

Furniture
and fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor  Right-of-use
improvements equipment vehicles assets Total
BAREE
H#EUR
HENEEE BLERE RE FRAEEE st
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
At1 April 2022 202244818
Cost AR 7,586 4,329 557 51,266 63,738
Accumulated depreciation and 2 MERAE
impairment (7.322) (3,846) (550) (37.,897) (49,615)
Net book amount REFE 264 483 7 13,369 14123
Year ended 31 March 2023 E £2023%3831H
tEE
Opening net book amount FUEREFE 264 483 7 13,369 14,123
Additions NE 352 170 — 9,268 9,790
Depreciation A (212) (295) (3) (9,593) (10,103)
Closing net book amount FEREAFE 404 358 4 13,044 13,810
At 31 March 2023 M2023E3831H
Cost BFN 7,938 4,39 557 60,534 73,424
Accumulated depreciation and RAMERRE
impairment (7,534) (4,037) (553) (47,490) (59,614)
Net book amount REFE 404 358 4 13,044 13810
Year ended 31 March 2024 E=2024F38318
LEE
Opening net book amount FRNEREFE 404 358 4 13,044 13810
Additions NE 45 108 — 2239 2,392
Disposal & — (6) — = (6)
Modification of lease BoHE — — — 6,713 6,713
Written off i 84 — (2) — — (2)
Depreciation neE (198) (227) (2) (9,864) (10,291)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 251 21 2 12,132 12,616
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3831H
Cost X AR 7,983 4,485 557 67,944 80,969
Accumulated depreciation and RAFERRE
impairment (7,732) (4,254) (555) (55,812) (68,353)
Net book amount REFE 251 231 2 12132 12,616
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 2024 3A31H L F[Z

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continves)  12. ¥13 - BER R HEH (2

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, included in the net carrying amount of HR20244F ]2 2023F3A31H  ME - WE K
property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets as follows: REERDFRETREFTRAEEENT
Carrying amount Depreciation
RELE e
For the year
As at As at ended
31 March 2024 1 April 2023 31 March 2024
20244 R2023 5 H Z20245
3H31H 4818 3ANBLEEE
HKS$'000 HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET
Buildings B¥ 12,132 13,044 9,864
Carrying amount Depreciation
FEeRE e
For the year
As at As at ended
31 March 2023 1 April 2022 31 March 2023
720234 M20224F B E20234F
3A31H 4F18  3ANBLEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§ 000
FETT FEIT FET
Buildings EF 13,044 13,342 9,566
Motor vehicles B — 27 27
Total @5t 13,044 13,369 9,593
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total additions to right-of- REBZEWXFIANBLEFE VX - BE
use assets included in property, plant and equipment amounting to RBRHEFEEEFEONEAREER
HK$8,952,000 (2023: HK$9,268,000) which is attributable to buildings. & 4B 288,952,000/ T (20234 : 9,268,000/8
JT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &, = 20243 A318 [t FE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS BmIEE
Website
development Money lender
costs Trademarks licence Total
48 Uk B B R A g HEAERR #at
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 7A20225F 4818
Cost BEN 800 5 56 861
Accumulated amortisation RETEH (684) 4) — (688)
Net book amount REFE 116 1 56 173
Year ended 31 March 2023 2023538318
LEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 116 1 56 173
Amortisation 5 (61) (1) — (62)
Closing net hook amount FRIEEFE 55 — 56 111
At 31 March 2023 202338318
Cost B AR 800 5 56 861
Accumulated amortisation BET (745) () — (750)
Net book amount REFE 55 — 56 m
Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE202453A31H
IEFEE
Opening net book amount FHREFHE 55 — 56 m
Addition NE 847 — — 847
Amortisation B (223) = = (223)
Closing net hook amount FXREEFE 679 — 56 735
At 31 March 2024 720245 3831H
Cost X AR 1,647 5 56 1,708
Accumulated amortisation ESE- 3 (968) (5) — (973)
Net book amount REFE 679 — 56 735
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

14. SUBSIDIARIES 14. B AT

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 720244F K 2023F3A3NBA M E E [ B A A
were as follows: HIFWT

Country/Place of

incorporation/ Issued and Equity interest held
Name of company establishment paid-up caPilaI by the Company Principal activities

HEL/ ERTR .
ARER RIBR/#E HRRE FRARENRE IZRH

04 03

WUE WBE

Directly held by the Company

ANAERKE
Qi-House Investment Group Limited BvI United States dollar 100% 100%  Investment holding
("Qi-House Investment’| N ("USD")1 ‘
Q-House nvestment Group Limited ([Qi-House Investment]) ~ ZE£AREE 7 100% 0% REZR
Indirectly held by the Company
ARABERS
Tree Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% 100%  Sale, distribution and rental of furniture and home accessaories,
consignment sales, distribution and licencing of intellectual
property rights, the provision of styling and consulting
‘ o services and the operation of a café
KEARAA 5% BT W 0% FERZERNEE SUREE FEEE 5
BRGURRARER  RERTRATRS
HREE-FmnE
Hong Kong talving nternationa Co., Limited (‘Waliving Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100% ~ Provision of furniture agency services
FREtRERESARAR(EEEZR) B 50000078 7T 100% 0% RERERERE
(i-House Enterprises (China] Limited Hong Kong HS! 100% 100%  Investment holding
KB (RE)ERAT Bk 1T 100% 0w RKEER
Super Easy Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of consumer loan services
FEREERRAA B 1000077 100% 0% REABEERRE
ERER(RI)ERAR PRC RMB200,000 100% 100%  Domant
Uija Holdings (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd* (Woie ) . ~ i
EZER(RINBRAR W) HE ARB00007 100% e AEY
ERERREERTERLA PRC (SD5,000,000 100% —  Provision of software and information technology services
Hefei Qijia Supply Chain Technology Co., Limited” fNote ) B -
AEERRERRITARRDM 2 ik 50000E T 100% —  RERKEREAMERE
ERAEAREREERAR PRC MBI, 000,000 100% — Provision of software and information technology services
Hefei Human Vision Technology Co., Limited
(*Human Vision'|” (Yote 35/ ) . ~ )
AEFBARERNERLR (TRARR Wi wE ARE1L000007 100% - REBRREARKRE
Hong Kong Lumber Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$10 100% — Domant
ERIREANERAR B AT 100% - TiE3
* English name for reference only. RN EBEHRE2E -
Notes: B &%
(i) Qijia Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd was incorporated on 15 December (i) 2R 2 B ORI B R AR 72022912 A15
2022, the registered capital of RMB200,000 has not yet been paid. Bz - R 2 A R #5200,0007T K
M EA -
(i) Hefei Qijia Supply Chain Technology Co., Limited was incorporated on 17 (i) ERERHEEEZMBRRQ R N2024F
January 2024. It is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise established under TRATBEMK - ZAal A —BRES
the PRC Law. BUERK N EBE R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies. The
financial years of the above subsidiaries are coterminous with that of
the Group, except for which have a financial year ending 31 December.
The consolidated financial statements are adjusted for significant
transactions or events, including those between ltaliving and group

14. B AT =)
LNEFTEMB AR ABBRAR - BhEZH
KB EE P12 A3NB &R - bt
BRARMBRFEHEAEEE —H - K6
HBEREREARIAEHAR - BIF
THIHE3ANHHEZE RESEE AT

companies, between 1 January and 31 March. HITE o
GOODWILL 15. &
The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: BMENEEDFEI>TWT
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
At the beginning of year RED
Gross carrying amount BRE A 23,426 23,426
Accumulated impairment RETRE (14,732) —
8,694 23,426
Net carrying amount at 1 April RAFVERBREF 58 8,694 23,426
Impairment loss (B & 18 (8,694) (14,732)
— 8,694
At the end of year RER
Gross carrying amount BR T B % 23,426 23,426
Accumulated impairment 2 RE (23.426) (14,732)
— 8,694

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is allocated
to the cash-generating unit of furniture agency services.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was determined
from value in use calculations based on cash flow projections from
formally approved financial budgets and forecasts covering a five-year
period. Key assumptions applied in value in use calculation mainly
included discount rate and average growth rate as the value in use is
most sensitive to the changes in these two factors. The sale growth
rate applied in the value in use calculation was based on management'’s
best estimation, taking into consideration of historical performances
and market expectation. The average growth rate is 4.0% (2023: 4.0%).
Cash flows for the subsequent years are extrapolated from the fifth year
using 3.0% (2023: 3.0%) growth rate, and discounted using a pre-tax
discount rate of 22.7% (2023: 23.1%).

FENEESECHERREBR) DEE
RARERBEORSELEM -

ReEEEMMANESELEREBR
BEETE UTERBEERMENTEE
BEHMRASRBANEREAFHMNE
Al e FEFRABERRANERRREE
BRENMRERFHEER  ARFEREE
HZMEERZNE R AR - 5 EF
FAEEREANEEEREDENRER
ErREMT UERBRLEERTS
TEHR o TR K A40% (20234 : 40%) °
HEFEMNRSRIZEEAFTREMAI0%
(20234 : 3.0%) FIEREHE - W ATA
Y38 R227% (20234F = 231%) 73R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

15.

16.

17.

year ended 31 March 2024 & E2024F3A3B I F &

GOODWILL (continued) 15. B8
Due to the decline of the furniture agency services market, the carrying ARNEREREBIRE TS TE - R2024538
value of cash-generating unit of furniture agency services has been A RERERBNBESEASUER
reduced to its recoverable amount of HK$11,141,000 as at 31 March B8 = H ] Y Bl & %11,141,00078 7T - M 48
2024, and the related impairment loss of goodwill of HK$8,694,000 was 8 7 22 R (B /§5 18 /58,694,00008 T iR & 18
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other mhEMEmKRERER - sFE R E
comprehensive income. Any adverse change in the assumptions used in TRFIARSHERMANE &G T HE
the calculation of recoverable amount would result in further impairment —SHREBRE -
losses.
CASH SURRENDER VALUE OF LIFE 16. AERBINBANEESEE
INSURANCE
The Group has invested in an insurance policy for Ms. Babington, an REEDRARARIMITESERTIEEREA
executive director and a key management personnel of the Company. BBabington X TR E—HIRKR - AEE A
The Group is the beneficiary of such investment. The carrying amount ZERENT @A - RESBERENR
represented the cash surrender value of the policy and approximates RS EE EREABHRNAALEER
its fair value at the end of the reporting date. Details of fair value B AABENEFBENM FE346
measurement are set out in Note 34.6.
INVENTORIES 17. &
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Finished goods X & 10,161 13,347
Goods in transit EEEm 1,672 915
11,833 14,262
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 18. ESZ R HttEWHEBENEKE

RECEIVABLES £
Trade and other receivables B S K H it FEWRIE
2024 2023
20245 20234F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
N3 FET FE T
Trade receivables ESEWRE
From third parties JEWE= 40,029 29,954
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEEEERE (138) (110)
Trade receivables — net B 5 MWk IEF R (a) 39,891 29,844
Other receivables H fth pE U I8
Deposits, prepayments and Ee - BHARERHAmER
other receivables A (b) 4,849 5,996
Interest receivables JE W) S 445 288
Prepayment to suppliers TR ER 5K IE c) 6,642 2,582
11,936 8,866
51,827 38,710
The directors of the Group considered that the fair value of trade AEBEEFRE  ARE SR EMERK
and other receivables are not materially different from their carrying HREARNIBHRESE  WEAAE
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their EEAERACHETEERER -
inception.
(a)  Trade receivables (a) EBZEWKNRE

Majority of the Group’s sale of furniture and home accessories
to its customers are settled by cash, credit cards, or by other
forms of electronic payments (such as EPS). There was no credit
term granted to the customers and distributors, but the Group
allows credit period of 2 to 7 (2023: 2 to 7) days to the payment
vendors and up to 120 (2023: 120) days to customers of furniture
agency services. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding trade receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Further
details on the Group's credit policy are set out in Note 34.2.

REBRBEFPIEHH AT RE K
RERMEENUNES EAFER
HtBFRAFER (WS HE) R -
AEEVERARTPLYHEEFELE
BH S TARREEERRER
ERERBEFPHRI2E7H (20235 :
2E7H) K & %1208 (20234 : 1208)
MEEH - NEBS R IZH
FUEHNESREKRE  LiEEE
EBREERE - AEHEaRE
EETHBN BHEAEEEFEER
RHHE — PR B R E342 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 18. ESZ R HttEWHEBENEKE

RECEIVABLES (continued) #)
Trade and other receivables (Continved) BESRHEHMEKRRKE®
(a)  Trade receivables (Continued) (a) BEBZEWKRREE)

The ageing analysis based on revenue recognition date of the
trade receivables, net of ECL allowance, is as follows:

BHRKFIE(HREHEEEER
) BRI R R BB RR S0
T

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
0-30 days 0-30H 8,810 6,698
31-90 days 31-90H 1,088 7,739
91-180 days 91-180H 16,580 15,407
181-365 days 181-365H 13413 —
39,891 29,844
The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as HRWNENEBRCEEEEGESY
follows: UlNE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Balance at 1 April RAATE R & & 110 490
Provision/(Reversal) made during the year FRFHREE(EE) 28 (380)
Balance at 31 March MIABREY 4 #4 138 110
(b)  Included in the Group’s deposits, prepayments and other (b)  M2024F3ANH - NEBEWIES - B

receivables as at 31 March 2024 was rental deposits of
HK$3,173,000 (2023: HK$3,292,000), loan advanced to staff of
HK$346,000 (2023: HK$409,000), prepayments for operating
expenses of HK$807,000 (2023: HK$2,161,000).

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, no ECL allowance was
recognised.

(¢)  Included in the Group’s prepayment to suppliers as at 31 March (c)

2024 was prepayment for marketing expenses of HK$3,115,000
(2023: HK$ nil).
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NHRBEREMERFERERASIER
£3,173,0008 7T (20234 : 3,292,00055
JC) ~ BT IE B 5 B 5346,0007% 7T
(20234 : 409,000 JT) ~ £& % F X T8
< 5% 18807,0007% T (20234 : 2,161,000
BIT) o

2024 N 2023F3 8318 - WEER
EHEEBBEERL -

R2024F3A318 - REBEMHERETE
NRBREMSH#EER I BMNZE
3,115,000 7T (20234 & T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN

EZREMEBURRANERE

RECEIVABLES (continued) #)

Loan receivables B\ E X
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
From third parties EUWE=H 15,145 10,743
Less: ECL allowance woEHEEEERE (337) (35)
Loan receivables — net W & FOF R 14,808 10,708
Less: non-current portion W IE B B D (211) (228)
Current portion mEE D 14,597 10,480

The Group's loan receivables, which arise from the money lending
business of providing personal loans and corporate loans in Hong
Kong, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the carrying amounts
approximate their fair values.

As at 31 March 2024, loan receivables with gross principal amount of
HK$15,145,000 (2023: HK$10,743,000) were due from 13 (2023: 29)
independent third parties. Loan receivable of HK$1,722,000 (2023:
HK$10,743,000) were arise from 8 (2023: 29) personal loans and loan
balance of HK$13,423,000 (2023: HK$nil) were arise from 5 (2023: nil)
corporate revolving loans. These loans are interest-bearing at fixed
rates ranging from 7.5% to 48% (2023: 46.8% to 48%) per annum.

There were 29 personal loans and 7 corporate revolving loan in total
amount of HK$31,715,000 (2023: 91 personal loans in total amount of
HK$38,692,000) originated during the year ended 31 March 2024. The
average gross balance per loan was HK$880,957 (2023: HK$425,187).
The average return on loans was 16.92% (2023: 14.91%).

The Group has no collateral over loan receivables as at 31 March 2024
and 2023. Impairment loss, net of HK$302,000 (2023: HK$35,000) has
been recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2024.
The loan impairment ratio was 2.23% as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
0.32%).

Further details on the Group's credit policy are set out in Note 34.2.

AEBARBARBEAERERAAE
RMERBEEBEENE T ENEK
BN ERESBRANAEBEMES

2024538318 + A% 48 FE 415,145,000 7T
(20234 : 10,743,000 70) W) JE IR B 3% B &
1344 (20234F : 29B) WU E=FTHER ©
1,722,000 7% 7T (20234F : 10,743,0007% 7T ) H FE
U B R B85 (20234F : 298 ) A A B K
B 345 #213,423,00078 7T (2023F : =8 oT)
RESEQBF )RR BERER %
FZE IR E F F M E F75% Z=48% (2023
G 46.8% F48%) FHE -

HEWUFIANALFEELENEBMAE
RRTERRERER - 425 % 531,715,000
BIL(0BF - NEBMAER B2BER
38,692,000 L) - BEERN THB & #
/880,957 7% 7T (20234F : 42518778 70) - B
B 15 8 3R & 416.92% (20234 : 14.91%) o

720249 } 202343 A318 » AN & B I & T
Al FE U B R IR &R o F098302,0007% 7T (2023
F 350008 L) B BEBEEREZ
014F3ANBIEFEMNBZFRHER - R
2024F3A318 - B FORE X A2.23% (2023
:0.32%) °

BEAEBEEERENFBHNH T
342 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 18. ESZ R HttEWHEBENEKE

RECEIVABLES (continued) #)
Loan receivables (contined) A= & NE D)
The movement in the ECL allowance of loan receivables is as follows: JEREFNEREEBEERZSHNOT
2024 2023
2024 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Balance at 1 April RAF1E & & 35 —
ECL allowance recognised ERREREEEEHE 337 35
Reversal of ECL allowance recognised ERREREEEEHE
2 gEl (35) —
Balance at 31 March MIANBH & & 337 35
A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at the reporting date, based REBE - REINHAMKREREEES
on the maturity date, net of ECL allowance, is as follows: BEENERERIBBEROT:
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FHETL
Within 1 year —FR 14,597 10,480
After 1 year but within 2 years —F®R - EMFR 211 228
14,808 10,708
19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 19. RITERRES
Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit RITEHRERTHRITERANERIEZE
rates. FEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2. EZRHEMEMSRIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
b &F FET FET
(Restated)
(&)
Trade payables EZEMNRE
To third parties ERE=7 (a) 18,583 11,796
Other payables H B3 KB
Accrued charges and other payables EErE R &k E M ENRIE (b) 8,539 5,635
Consideration payable JERRE c) 4,604 4,304
13,143 9,939
31,726 21,735
Less: Portion due within one year included J&: st ARBEAER —F R
under current liabilities FER ) FS (31,445) (21,534)
Portion due after one year included under T AFERBAEN —F1&
non-current liabilities E| BB B > 281 201
All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of the FrEREYARS AKAEENES R
Group's trade and other payables as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 were H th & 5 5% 18 1220249 220233 A31H &9
considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values. FEHERRAANLEBENAGEIILE -
(a) Trade payables (a) BEFENRIE
There was no credit period granted by the suppliers of the Group. AEBEHHERTEREEEE -
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as ESRENFREEREZHMOERE
follows: DT
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-30 days 0-30H 5911 4,161
31-90 days 31-90H 4,343 5,330
Over 90 days 90H M E 8,329 2,305
18,583 11,796
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continueq)

20 EFREMESNKE

(b) Accrued charges and other payables (b) EtBERARHEMESKE
Included in the Group's accrued charges and other payables R2024F3R83H  REEWNEEE
as at 31 March 2024 was dividend payables of HK$2,287,000 FA Ko EoAth 8 < FR0IE B A R N IR B
(2023: HK$2,287,000), salaries payable of HK$2,022,000 2,287,000 T (20234 : 2,287,0005%
(2023: HK$1,245,000), LSP obligation of HK$353,000 (2023 7o)~ FE i % £2,022,00078 JT (2023
HK$201,000) (Note 28), amount due to related parties of F 11,245,000 0) - RERB 2 ET
HK$302,000 (2023: HK$nil), amount due to a shareholder of 353,000/ 7T (2023 4F : 201,000 7T )( BT
HK$762,000 (2023: HK$nil) which is unsecured, interest-free and 7£28) - & < B8 B 77 3R IA302,00078 7T
repayable on demand. (20235 : EHT)REN—BRER
T8762,0007% 7T (20234 : E& 7T) » M
FEREREER 2ERERE
(c) Consideration payable (c) BENRE
The amount represents the redesignation of contingent ZEEEEREZERE 2021512
consideration payable as consideration payable (Note 32) ANBLFEMNKEZERBEN
based on the audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31 SAREEFETAEMKRE M F
December 2021. Consideration payable remained unpaid as at 31 32) o BB 7A20244F K 2023F3 3
March 2024 and 2023 was included in other payables. NBMARZS - WEFFAEAMER K
Ig o
Consideration payable of HK$300,000 represents the sales J& 1~ £ {&300,0007% 7T 5 W B ~ A A
consideration of acquisition of Human Vision (Note 35). REMHEERE (HFE3D) - EANRE
Consideration payable unpaid as at 31 March 2024 was included M2024F3ANBIMARZA - WEFA
in other payables. H b I 5RIE ©
21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. e EE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Contract liabilities arising from advance payments & FFEN K E A B A 4
from customers =K 6,981 5,813
Contract liabilities arising from gift vouchers sold EELERBEONESREL
but not yet redeemed HEHARE 6 104
6,987 5917

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from the advance
payments made by customers while the underlying products or services
are yet to be provided. The increase of contract liabilities as at 31 March
2024 is mainly due to the increase in advance payments from customers
while the underlying products are yet to be delivered during the year.

Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year amounted to
HK$5,917,000 (2023: HK$8,211,000) have been recognised as revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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AEBNANAEBEIZREEPENR
i A8 B 2 am S AR 7% R R ER 1t - 10202443 A
IRMANABIEN  TERRNFAR
FEMAFEMER AT HBER

F Y KB EA L B (E5917,0007% JT (2023
£ 18,211,000 7o) B A E £2024F3A318
FFEERAKD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group's bank borrowings, based on
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, were
repayable as follows:

22. SRITIRE

20244 N 202343 831H - AEE W R 1T
BEEZERBZAMBOTIERBDH)
RERBEROT :

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 12,426 6,464
In the second year FF 803 _
In the third to fifth year EZEFERF 2,590 —
After the fifth year FRF® 4,455 _
20,274 6,464
Less: Amount due within one year B —FERE B R (12,426) (6,464)
Amount of bank loans that are not repayable within B ¥ & B K € 5t — F A K
one year from the end of the reporting period but 1%;%12/‘23 %’E%iﬁgﬁ
contain a repayment in demand clause (shown A HQ iR Q B R B (R E
under current liabilities) AET25) (7,848) —
Portion due after one year included under FTAERBABEERE TR —F
non-current liabilities ®E RS — —

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of their fair values.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank borrowings of HK$11,651,000 (2023:
HK$6,464,000) are unsecured, contain a repayable on demand clause
and are shown under current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of HK$8,623,000
obtained under the SME Financing Guarantee Scheme operated by
HKMC Insurance Limited. The bank borrowings was secured fully
by personal guarantee executed Mr. Tong Tang Joseph and HKMC
Insurance Limited (2023: HKS$nil), contain a repayable on demand clause
and are shown under current liabilities. The bank borrowings bear
interest at floating rates that is market dependent, and their fair values
approximate the carrying amounts.

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of their fair values.

RTBEENEEHLEHRRERAAEBEN
B LE -

2024331 + 4R 17 f& B11,651,0007% JT
(20234F : 6,464,000 70) BEER - BEE
BREBEERTIARBDEETLEY -

MR2024F38318 - REBES BIRERR
BRAFBEENPPEREERTEED
$R1T & 58,623,000/ 7T - SRITIEEREE
EAE BB BIRFREBRAAELAMEA
ERE2HERQBFE - THT) EFE
SRREKEENER TR RBEEE
TE2% - RITEERREMIBFHNF X
E OHMEAABEHARESEMRS -

RITEENRESBERBEREARLEE
MEEILLUE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

23.

LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HEAE
The analysis of the remaining contractual maturities of the Group's lease AEBEHEABEHRTAOINBHEN DI
liabilities is as follows: N

2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHETL
Total minimum lease payments: SIRME G HERE
— Due within one year R —F A EH 8,756 8,502
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEEFRFHEH 4,680 4747
— Due after the fifth years NE R 1% 55 142 _
13,578 13,249
Future finance charges on lease liabilities HEABNRKITB L (1,029) (370)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEMNRE 12,549 12,879
Present value of minimum lease payments: REEENROEE:
— Due within one year ®—F N3 Ef 8,121 8,195
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEZERFHH 4310 4,684
— Due after the fifth years NERF % EH 118 _
12,549 12,879
Less: Portion due within one year included under & * AEA R B BER TR —F
Y i QPN
current liabilities P 5 5 58 5 (8,121) (8,195)
Portion due after one year included under non- T AZER & ';5 EETR—F
current liabilities Ry 4,428 4,684
As at 31 March 2024, lease liabilities amounting to HK$12,549,000 202443 A 318 + $£12,549,000,% 7T (20234 :
(2023: HK$12,879,000) are effectively secured by the related underlying 12879000 )M EBEMS + AR MA
assets as the rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor EEBREF  BHEHSEEENEN SRR

in the event of default by repayment by the Group.

HHEA WER EABEEEERM -

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash outflows for the REE20UFIANBILEFE  HERESR

leases are HK$8,869,000 (2023: HK$10,050,000).

i & £ 48,869,000/ st (20234 : 10,050,000
ST °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 23. HEAE®
Details of the lease activities HETHFE
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group has entered into leases for R20244F 2023 3A31H - A& B2
warehouse, office, shop premises and motor vehicles as follows: B A= JEEMERABEITIUTHEE
Financial statements
Types of right-of-  items of right-of-use Number of Range of remaining
use assets assets included in leases lease term 2024 2023 Particulars
CREEEREH
ERREERDE BBHRRER HEYE #TrAggE 024F 023F  HE
HKS$'000  HK$ 000
FET TFiET
Warehouse Property, plant and equipment 3 1.2510 2.84 years 6,770 2,208 Not contain any renewal and
(2023: 4) (2023: 110 2 years) termination options
BE ER T 3 12522845 TEEAMERRKLER
(203 :4) (20235 122%) 12
Shop premises Property, plant and equipment 2 0.47 t0 0.61 years 3,786 9,553 Not contain any renewal and
(2023:2) (2023: 1.47 t0 1.61 years) termination options
Some of the contracts contain
additional variable lease payments
depends on the gross receipts during
the contract period
JE 48 nE- BERRE 2 04720615 (20235 - THEANERRKILER
(203%F :2) 141E1615) ﬁ;
BreeEREITERERN
oo REBTaNBRmELY
ATE
Office Property, plant and equipment 4 0.92 t0 9.80 years 1,993 987 Not contain any renewal and
(2023:1) (2023: 1t0 2 years) termination options
/N ER TN 4 092£980%F THEAENERARKLER
(203F 1) (2023%F 122%) 1
Motor vehicles Property, plant and equipment  Nil Nil year — 131 All'of the contracts contains an
(2023:3) (2023:0.25t0 1 years) option to purchase the motor
vehicles at the end of the lease term
e nE BERSR 7 TE AHEARERTHER
(203 :3) (2023 : 0.521F) ﬁ% ﬁﬁ% REREERE
DEFERRED TAXATION 24, EEBIE
The movement in the deferred tax assets during the year is as follows: RAFE  BEERBEBEENZSHOT :
HK$000
F#E T
At 1 April 2022 120224 A1H 466
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) RiB = R (A 779) (50)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 2023937310 X% 20234F 4718 416
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) RIB=ER W 79) (42)
At 31 March 2024 742024 3H31RH 374

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



138

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

24. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 24, EEBIE )
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting FA - RER R EERANSGRE
of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the year is as BELEMREBEEEMAENEZSHNOT
follows:
Deferred tax assets EEMREEE
Accelerated
accounting
depreciation Provision Total
MmEETINE BE Wt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FHET
At 1 April 2022 7202248 4 A18 404 80 484
Recognised in profit or loss 1B % T R (2) (57) (59)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 73202343 A31H &
2023F4 818 402 23 425
Recognised in profit or loss 18 = B R (106) 55 (51)
At 31 March 2024 72024538318 296 78 374
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBEE
Accelerated tax
amortisation
2 B 0E 8
HK$ 000
FHET
At 1 April 2022 7202245 4 918 (18)
Recognised in profit or loss REHER 9
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 7202343 A31H & 2023F4A1H (9)
Recognised in profit or loss RE=ER 9
At 31 March 2024 72024 3A31H —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

SHARE CAPITAL B% A<
Number of shares HKS 000
4 & B FET
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April  R20224E4 818 ~ 2023438318 -
2023 and 31 March 2024 20234 B1H K& 202443 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid ERTIHE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April  R20224E4 818 ~ 2023438318 -
2023 and 31 March 2024 20234 4 A18 R2024%3 A31 R 1,584,000,000 15,840
RESERVES 26. &
(a) Share premium (a) B#HPEE
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share BERSESAFE  ARAIHR
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment R ERITAESRIARERER
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that KRS - MERERER 2 IKIK
immediately following the date on which the distribution or BRER - 77" /,\"ﬁ_ WA=
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its BREREERLINEBER -
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
(b) Capital reserve (b)) EXRGFE
Capital reserve arises from capital contribution by a shareholder BRRBEREART] —BRELE -
of the Company.
SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 2. UBRMAEBRNEER

TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of shareholders dated on 5 January
2018, a share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of share capital in issue from time to time.

1R B E A20184F1 ASH AR R 2 k5
R OARARMN—IBERETE B
Hi A 8201851858 B 51104 ([58 & #& 5t
D

BREFIEEEASENAER2EE
REBRE FRNSHAKEFLER
MBSO - R R EAEE A R
BERExEEYRIIHAKE L AKET
AR EARGAE T ABENTAER (&R
EEBDAEENANER

HRZEERE S R A EE M RMNE
MEMBEREFEICREMAEFTERN

EMHMARTEERERETEMIEITH
EERHEE  TEBATRKREREITRA
#930% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

217.

year ended 31 March 2024 & E2024F3A3B I F &

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Group) to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date on
which dealings in the Company's shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the “General Scheme Limit").

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date
of approval of the limit.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each eligible participant who accepts the offer
for the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of issued share capital for
the time being. Where any further grant of options under the Share
Option Scheme to a grantee would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and proposed to be granted
to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of share capital in
issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by shareholders
in general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be at the discretion
of the directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of
the Company’s shares on the offer date; (b) the average closing price of
the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for trade in one or more board lots of the Company's shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares.

No option was granted under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 March
2024 and 2023 and during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

LSP OBLIGATION

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, Hong
Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at least five
years are entitled to LSP under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by
employers or upon retirement).

The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the
employee’s last monthly salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the
Group's contributions to MPF scheme (see note 15), with an overall cap
of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligations.

217.

28.

LURHOAEERNEERZ ®

ERBERENRBBESREZNIRTRE -
HEABERATEETFNESE @R
EHORH BXAEAREXRMEE—F
FA FRBEEEEMHRRTRG AT
MARRRBRDEHE: R EZZELHEH
AMAEZ%E BIXAEAKRERMEER
—FHIULEBEEEMHNARA RN
I W AR AR FHWTE : KB
E1{E -

720244 20233318 A & & 220244
N2023F3A31B IEFE - BEEIR IR AR
FHEIR LB IR HE o

REBRBEERE
RIEEBEZDFETIBCERREEDD) - L
BEXEREFNEERE EETHER
TUERIBREINEAB)HDEREE
EHRBE -

BNERHRESCHRENLBREERE —
18 A& B % (JA22,50058 7T & EBR) M BR 7
FE  NMRASENSESTEMHRAE
ERTREEREE(RNEnEETE &
BEH1ES5390,000%5 A LR o BAT
AEEHRH ETHEBNEELHR
REEHRBESEMT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

28. LSP OBLIGATION /continved) 28. RERKEEET®

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Amendment
Ordinance will take effect on the Transition Date. Separately, the
Government has indicated that it would launch a subsidy scheme to
assist employers after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective of the
contributions made before, on or after the Transition Date) to reduce
the LSP in respect of an employee's service from the Transition Date.
However, where an employee’s employment commenced before the
Transition Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service up
to that date. In addition, the LSP in respect of the service before the
Transition Date will be calculated based on the employee’'s monthly
salary immediately before the Transition Date and the years of service
up to that date.

The benefit payment under LSP remains capped at HK$390,000 per
employee. If an employee’s total benefit payment exceeds HK$390,000,
the amount in excess of the cap is deducted from the portion accrued
from the Transition Date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition
as disclosed in notes 2.2 and 2.20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily
impacts the Group's LSP obligations with respect to Hong Kong
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

LSP OBLIGATION (continved) 28 REBRBEEE
The present value of unfunded LSP obligations and its movements are as AMARIARBeEETHRERHLE S
follows: R
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
As at 1 April MW4R18 201 169
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive EQ,H\ fib 2 TED W %5 7 3R ) B3 37
income: AP &
— Actuarial loss arising from changes in financial ~ — P B 755 1R 3k 22 Ehf 2 £ WY
A Gipvis
assumptions REER 100 2
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: RE RO
— Current service cost — N HA IR 5 B AR M 84
— Past service cost — BAERB AR — (59)
— Net interest expense B FEE " 5
As at 31 March M3A3NA 353 201
The current service cost and past service cost are included in employee AEREK AR BEIRBEXAEFTAEE
benefit expenses. They are recognised in the following line items in the BHRAY  TREEKRERATEESE
consolidated income statement: R
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSGHERX 20 (774)
General and administrative expenses —REITHAX 21 99
Ly (675)
Estimates and assumptions CEPACES
The significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of LSP ErRHARGEETERANEABER
obligations are as follows: B/
2024 2023
20245 20234
Discount rate FHR=E 3.49% 3.01%
Salary growth rate Folgkx 3.49% 3.49%
Turnover rate (by salary group) B E(RFLERE D) 2351%t0 32.87%  23.51% 10 32.87%
2351% £32.87%  23.51% %32.87%
Expected investment return on offsetable MPF QRS e 2oLy
accrued benefits AR AR 2.5% 2.7%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

28.

year ended 31 March 2024 & E2024F3A3B I F &
LSP OBLIGATION (continved) 28. REBRBEREE®
Estimates and assumptions (Continved) et REBR @)
These assumptions were developed by management. Discount factors WHEREITRELSPRBL2EEBER
are determined close to each period-end by reference to market AIEFUAREEETINNEESE B
yields of high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the IR SR B AR R R B AR 7S & B 1R 3R
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to BN EXRETE EMEREZAULE
maturity approximating to the terms of the related LSP obligations. AEEREERERENRTARRBEE -
Other assumptions are based on current actuarial benchmarks and ZEBHRBEREEETE -
management’s historical experience.
The present value of the LSP obligations was measured using the FHRESEENHEAERBEINECE
projected unit credit method. FUEETE o
The weighted average duration of the LSP obligations is 6.9 years (2023: RERE € ST INEFHFE R69F
10.48 years). (20234 : 10.48%F) »
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted LSP obligations in the next 2024 E3 A3 A R RA2F HI AR ITEHR K H
42 years as at 31 March 2024 is disclosed as follows: e BEENFEHRIHRBE R TREN
T
Over2 years
Over 1 year but but within
Within1year  within 2 years Syears  Over5years Total
—E0EB  WEALE
-£R MELR LEUR BENE @t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TET FET FET FET FET
LSP obligations RORBEER 1 ] 3 195 353

The LSP obligations expose the Group to actuarial risks such as interest
rate risk, salary risk and the investment risk of the Group's MPF
scheme’s constituent funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

LSP OBLIGATION (continved) 28 REBRBEEE
Changes in the significant actuarial assumptions EARERRED
The calculation of the LSP obligations is sensitive to the significant RERGSEANHEH LMERBE
actuarial assumptions mentioned above. The following table summarises BRLBEH - TREMNEREARZ
the effects of changes in these actuarial assumptions on the LSP EHEBRREHERIABRBESEENF
obligations at the end of each reporting periods. Z o
Impact on LSP obligations
HREBESEINETE
Changes in Increase in the Decrease in the
assumption assumption assumption
B BIE R 5% 18 fn B 2
HK$'000 HK$000
TET TET
As at 31 March 2024 72024538318
Discount rate IR =& 5% (4) 4
Salary growth rate FeHRE 5% 3 (3)
Turnover rate B B 5% (18) 18
Expected investment return on AEhEES RERE
offsetable MPF accrued benefits 7 i) 78 B IR & B 3R 5% —* —*
As at 31 March 2023 7202338318
Discount rate IR & 5% (3) 3
Salary growth rate HemREX 5% 1 (1)
Turnover rate (By age group) BRER(RERAER
25) 5% (10) 10
Expected investment return on AEhRECREE
offsetable MPF accrued benefits 7 B 78 B 9% & B 3R 5% —* —*

* The amount less than HK$1,000

* 2B R0008 T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  29. &2 R KB B ARk R &
COMPANY

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FAE T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—RENBARNERE 20,249 20,249
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments B R 151 228
Amount due from subsidiaries JRE W B8 2 ) SRR 5,442 8,486
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRERS a7 _
5,640 8,714
Current liabilities FEBaE
Other payables H b B A 3,370 3,377
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,210 5,337
Net assets REE 2519 25,586
EQUITY Ea=
Share capital A 15,840 15,840
Reserves (Note) feé 18 (KT 72) 6,679 9,746
Total equity MR 22,519 25,586
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 June M2024F6 A2NB B E S g o R RET
2024, % o
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B BmERE
Director Director
EE EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

30.

29. ARTMHMBEMRR T2

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Mt et -
The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: ARARKEEESHOT:
Share Accumulated
premium* losses Total
B’ 5% E" 2ZitEB 8 @t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 R2022F 4 F1H 51,813 (40,064) 11,749
Loss and total comprehensive expense T A &5 BREMEZEAS AT
for the year — (2,003) (2,003)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 720233 8318 & 2023 4H81H 51,813 (42,067) 9,746
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREBEEREMEZARZ B3
for the year — (3,067) (3,067)
At 31 March 2024 720245 3H31H 51,813 (45,134) 6,679

Share premium represents (i) the excess of the proceeds from issuance

of the shares of the Company over its par value, net of share issuance
expenses; and (i) the difference between the carrying value of Tree
Limited acquired in prior years over the nominal value of the share capital
of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

COMMITMENTS

(a) Lease commitments

As lessee

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the lease commitments for
short-term leases are as follows:

B £ 34 {8 5 (i) R 2 5] 8 17 B0 /O FT 18 3R
B EEEN RS R B ETH
) R(iVBEFEREBAREER AR
AR (E B AR RME R M 3 17K
AEEWEHE -

30. A&iE
(a) AERIE
EBEEA

M20244F 2 2023F3A31H - MEFAE
MAERENT:

2024 2023

20245 20234F

HKS 000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Within one year —FR — 58
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

30. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(a) Lease commitments (Continved)
As lessor

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases

in respect of properties as follows:

30. ARIE (@)
(a) MEHAE®
EHEEA
PA20244F K 2023 3A31H - AEEIR
B ARG S T & ) IELR
REEHESHLBEOT:

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$ 000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FR 503 510
In the second to fifth years RE_ZERF — 503
503 1,013

The Group leases its property under operating lease
arrangements which run for an initial period of 2 years.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material

transactions with related parties:

(a) Name and relationship with related parties
During the year, the related parties that had transactions with

the Group were as follows:

Name of related parties

AEERBENS/ENEFNELEHE
ZLHHEWE -

N BEAIRS
BRIELEGRAMERREMBAFEREHR
S/ BR 2 KREBHEBE T LQETT
TERRS:

(a) BARES K EREREF
KA - SRR B TR 500
7 T

Relationship with the Group

B A B HEAEENER
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph A director of the Company
EE R E KRREE
Mr. Han Yi Director of a subsidiary of the Group
e REE-—MWBARINES
Ms. Feng Hui Director of a subsidiary of the Group
BELZL REE-—FENBARIMNES
AE Majoris Business Development Company Limited Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company
AACEERERAA RARRAEERARAEEES
AE Majoris CPA Limited Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company

AREMEBRERAA

AE Majoris Corporate Services Company Limited
A ERBERAT

Rothley Investment Limited (“Rothley”)

Rothley Investment Limited ([Rothley])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b)

(c)

Transactions with related parties
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

31.

BEBMAERSE)
b) EEBINRS

BRALGRE M BRI EME DR E

statements, during the year, the transactions with related parties BN FRARAEEBHBEFEAR
of the Group carried in the ordinary course of business were as SEBESAETHNISNT
follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
AE Majoris CPA Limited Accounting service fee* — 216
AE Majoris CPA Limited FEtRBE
AE Majoris Corporate Company secretarial
Services Company Limited  service fee 7 —

AREERBERAR RAMERBE

These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Amounts due from/(to) related parties

* ZERIEE T 22 5 1 A GEM _E AR Al
E_TEMRENEER S HH

BHEZS -

(c) FEW (FE{T)RAEE 5 FE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET

Other payables H PB4 R IE
Mr. Han Yi BREE 153 _
Ms. Feng Hui BELZ L 149 —
Amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, FEUR (FEAS) BB B 5 BB AR

interest-free and repayable on demand.

RERALBREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

31.

32.

year ended 31 March 2024 & E2024F3A3B I F &

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) N BEBRAIAXRZ®
(d Key management personnel remuneration d EEEBAEHFM
Key management of the Group are members of the board of KEBMNEITEEEEREFTENRS
directors and senior management. Key management personnel BERBEKE - ETEZEEABH M
remuneration includes the following expenses: BREATEERXZ:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e KOER 7,074 7372
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R AR AR A T B R 18 30
7,092 7,402
CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE 32. ERFIARE

On 14 December 2018, Tree Investment, a subsidiary of the Group,
Perfect Bright Management Company Limited, an independent third
party, and Mr. Han Yi, entered into a sales and purchase agreement
(the “Sales and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Group agreed to acquire the entire share capital of Italiving (the
“Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on 31 December 2018
(the “Completion Date").

Pursuant to the terms of the Sales and Purchase Agreement, the total
consideration for the Acquisition (the “Purchase Consideration”)
comprised:

(a) Cash consideration
(i) upon completion, a sum of HK$3,000,000; and

(i) within three months from the Completion Date, a sum of
HK$3,500,000;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

(Continued)

Contingent consideration

(i) within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2019, provided
that the net profit before tax of ltaliving for the year
ended 31 December 2019 is not less than HK$5,200,000,
a sum equals two times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving minus HK$6,500,000 paid under (a)(i) and (a)(ii)
above;

(ii) within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2020, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ended 31 December 2020 is not less than HK$6,200,000,
a sum equals 1.8 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving; and

(iii)  within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2021, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is not less than HK$9,300,000,
a sum equals 1.4 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving.

Notwithstanding the aforementioned payment schedule,
Tree Investment shall not be under any obligation to pay a
sum exceeding HK$40,000,000 in aggregate as the Purchase
Consideration or when the above obligation has been discharged.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable represents
the present values of the Group's probability-weighted estimates
of the cash outflows. It reflects management's estimates of the
probabilities that the net profit before income tax of Italiving for
the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 would be
achieved and the discount rates.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of contingent consideration
payable based on the audited results of Italiving for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was nil and the fair value change of
HK$3,362,000 was recognised in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

32. ERSIARE®
() HIARKE

(i) BEFtRH 22019612731
HIFFEMNKEZEBAERR
—EAR MEZHREZE
2019512 A3 B I FE R LA
45 F) A~ 4> 525,200,000 T ¢ Al
IHEEREZERGBRATA
FIR9265 8 £ 3 (a)li) M (a)(i) B T
37 < #96,500,0007 JT K & 8

(i) BEZHRHEE2020012731
HIEFERME&EZKRBAMBRE
F—EAR MEZHREZE
2020512 A3 B LEFE BB B AT
45 R A~ 2> 526,200,000 7T 0 8
TAEEREFHRG R4
FlasEmerE: &

(i) B EEiHRKEE2021F127431
HIEFEMLEZEBEAMBR
A—EAR MEZHREZE
2021512 A3 8 I F E WA
45 F A~ 4> 529,300,000 T ¢ Al
STEEREFHRGR AL
FlesEmesE -

N LR E A - (ERBER
Bok A ETERKREF - Tree Investment 4
AT o] B £ 2 48 18 & ££40,000,000
VBT o

ENSRARBAABEREAEESR
SRMERBEEMEGFTENRE
RBRE IR B BB REE2019
220205 K2021F12A3B I F
IR BBk BT 1S B A0 40 R A9 BE R LA &
PR ER G -

R202263A31H - ER B Z R EH
ENFNANALFENKEZE
BENENIAREIAEBERST
MEE2022F3ANBIEFEMNIEREA
BEHER A EE % E)3,362,00078 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. AR ERERM &
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) METBHFELEBNYHE
financing activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing AEENRELTHAEENEES
activities can be classified as follows: BoEmT:
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEAE RITEE et
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET F&ET F&r
At 1 April 2022 A2022F 4818 14,445 6,493 20,938
Cash-flows: REeERE:
Proceeds Fr 5 IR — 31,323 31,323
Repayments B — (31,352) (31,352)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEaEN A ID (9,402) — (9,402)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEsBENFBEHY (440) — (440)
Interests paid B4 F B — (354) (354)
Non-cash: B
Entering into new leases RIMEHEE 9,268 — 9,268
Interests expenses F B X 440 354 794
COVID-19-related rent concessions 2 U CoVID-194/8 B 7 &
received - (148) — (148)
Other income HAa g A (510) — (510)
Termination of lease KIEHHE (774) — (774)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 M2023F3831A K
20234818 12,879 6,464 19,343
Cash-flows: RERE:
Proceeds PR 1§ 3R — 51,503 51,503
Repayments B — (37,693) (37,693)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEaGEN RIS (8,158) — (8,158)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBENFNESY (653) — (653)
Interests paid B F B — (1,009) (1,009)
Non-cash: FHE:
Entering into new leases RIMEEE 2,239 — 2,239
Modification of lease & & &% 6,841 — 6,841
Other payable H At & 1~ 30 1E (742) — (742)
Interests expenses A EMX 653 1,009 1,662
Other income Ha g A (510) — (510)
At 31 March 2024 72024 3H31H 12,549 20,274 32,823
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Non-cash transactions
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered
into certain lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities amounting to HK$2,239,000 (2023:
HK$9,268,000) was recognised at the lease commencement
date.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group renewed
certain lease contracts which increased right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities amounting to HK$6,713,000 (2023: HK$ nil) at the
lease modification date.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the shareholder has paid
capital element of lease liabilities of HK$742,000 on behalf of the
Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the service company has
paid rental expenses of HK$510,000 on behalf of the Group,
which did not recharge the amount to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has acquired
a subsidiary, Human Vision and a gain on bargain purchase
of HK$779,000 was recognised under “Other income” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (note 35).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). The Group's
overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the
board of directors. There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

3. MERERERM T2

b) FEEXRSH
REZE2024F3ANAILEFE  AEE
RAINETHEARY Bt REEH
BHEERNGEEAREERTEE
B 152,239,000/ 7T (20234 : 9,268,000
&) e

REE20UF3ANBILEE A&
EEEEETHEAN RHEEE
KEHENERAEEERHERE
6,713,00078 7T (20234 : B L) °

HE2024F3A3NBILFE > BREEA
KAEEXNHERBEN AL IS
742,0007 7T ©

HE2024F3ANBILFE - REQT
B RAEE £ 5 510,000
JC c BB E R AN E B UWEZ UE -

REE2024F3A3NBILFE - AEH
WHE—HMBARTAARE I
ERGEBREREMEEKRERE
TIEMWA IR ERZEBEERS
779,0007% 7T (Pt 7%35) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)
34.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 1 eREEREENWER
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of EHEEHBRARPE2IHERS
financial position relate to the following categories of financial FENATEHINEREER SR E
assets and financial liabilities: BEHM:
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BREREANER
IR SR E E
— Cash surrender value of life insurance — AERBHBHR
EE 2,023 1,978
Financial assets at amortised cost HEEK AR EN SR
— Trade and other receivables —EZ 5 Rk H M EWKFKIE 44,417 34,004
— Loan receivables —EKER 14,808 10,708
— Bank balances and cash —RITEH LIRS 12,192 9,479
73,440 56,169
Financial liabilities cHAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R AT ERR S B
aE
— Trade and other payables — B 5 R H M ERFKIE 31,261 21,423
— Bank borrowings —RITIEE 20,274 6,464
— Lease liabilities —HE&E 12,549 12,879
64,084 40,766
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

34.2 Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and bank

deposits, trade and other receivables and loan receivables. The

Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assets is limited to the carrying amount at the reporting dates as

summarised below:

3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE
(%)

32 EERK

FEERERENRTER -EH
Ko Eo A 8 W R 0B K B M B AR R
ERERR - AEE SR EEAERN
RAEERRNEET AR
BERMOEESME:

General approach

Simplified —BEA

approach Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
SR (PN B B B Er2 B E23 @t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2024 20243 A31H
Trade receivables 2o YR 39,891 — - - 39,801
Loan receivables ERER — 13,586 1222 — 14,308
Other receivables H o e 30E — 4526 - — 4526
Bank balances and cash BUEBRREAS — 12192 — — 12192
39,891 30,304 1222 — na

At 31 March 2023 #2023 3A31R
Trade receivables BHRWGRE 29,844 — — — 29,844
Loan receivables EE R — 10,708 — — 10,708
Other receivables H it e W 308 — 4,160 — — 4,160
Bank balances and cash BITEBRAE — 9479 — — 9,479
29,844 24,347 — — 54,191

(i)

Trade receivables

The Group's policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a credit worthiness assessment made.
Payment record of customers is closely monitored. It
is not the Group's policy to request collateral from its

customers.

i) EZEWKA
AEENBEEZELGFERIT
MXZEFETRS - HEP
ABBEENGR HAER
FEBFER AEEEINERT
PSR 8 o A BHBK
TEEBREFPIEEERM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, as set out in Note 2.10, the Group assesses
ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables under simplified
approach based on provision matrix, the expected loss
rates are based on the payment profile as well as the
corresponding historical credit losses during that period.
The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the
customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding.
At each reporting date, the historical default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed. However, given the short period exposed
to credit risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors
has not been considered significant within the reporting
period.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to
make payments within 365 days from the due date and
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment
arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

As at 31 March 2024, ECL allowance of HK$138,000
(2023: HK$110,000) was recognised for trade receivables
from the furniture agency services segment at ECL rate
of 0.2% (2023: 0.3%) for trade receivables that are not
yet past due, 0.4% (2023: 0.4%) for trade receivables
that are past due within 90 days, 0.5% (2023: 0.6%) for
trade receivables that are past due within 91 to 180 days,
0.6% (2023: 0.4%) for trade receivables that are past due
within 181 to 365 days and 100% (2023: 100.0%] for trade
receivables that are past due over 365 days.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, no ECL allowance was
recognised for trade receivables from the furniture sale,
consultancy services and sale of computer software.
Most of the trade receivable was due from credit card
vendors, where the general credit terms are ranging from
1 to 30 days. In the view of management, the credit risk
was relatively low.

As at 31 March 2024, 83.5% (2023: 96.4%) of the total
gross trade receivables was due from a customer arisen
from the furniture agency services segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loan
receivables, other receivables and bank balances and
cash.

Loan receivables

The Group manages the credit risk for money lending
business and accesses by assesses the credit quality
of the customers in regular basis, taking into account
their financial position, settlement history, internal and
external credit rating and other factors.

All loans are subject to credit assessment and are
reviewed by the Group's credit department. A report
included all available data such as information from the
TransUnion Credit Report, including history of default,
background of the loan customer and other publicly
available information are reviewed before proposing the
loan terms, such as loan amount, interest rate and loan
tenor. The loan is approved after the credit assessment
was reviewed and approved by the management.

The management reviews regularly the recoverable
amount of loan receivables by taking into account of
the market conditions, customers’ profiles including
any significant changes in the payment status of the
borrowers to ensure that adequate impairment is made for
the irrecoverable amounts. In assessing the recoverability
of the loan receivables, information such as (i) historical
payment records e.g., timely settlement of loan interest or
loan principal amounts before the due dates; (i) the length
of the overdue period; and (iii) any foreseeable changes
in the economic environment that would significantly
deteriorating the borrower’s ability to meet its obligation.
The management keeps monitoring in an ongoing basis to
decide whether any follow-up action should be taken to
avoid potential exposure to recoverability problems.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure the expected credit losses for loan receivables.

3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

(%)

M2 EERKR(E)

(ii)

RBHERAIRNAEMLERERE
BEERATENECSRE
EREBEER - Hib YK
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JE W B 7
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EHZETHNME UERRE
SRR &R E - AP
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REAAEEEEREL WA
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SNHEERBEEREN
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BEREFHREEFKGHE D
2 ERAREEERMAK
HWEEEFHRTTHE -

EEESTHENERERDN
Al OeRE IEETREE
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Al E 5 BB R R R SDRE ©
AFfd R A B SR Ay ] Bl R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, ECL allowance of HK$136,000
(2023: HK$35,000) was recognised for loan receivables
arising from personal loans and ECL allowance of
HK$201,000 (2023: HK$nil) was recognised from loan
receivables arising from corporate revolving loans.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, loan receivables
with amount of HK$1,222,000 (net of ECL of HK$136,000)
were transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2023: HK$nil).
There was no other transfers between Stage 1, Stage 2
and Stage 3 during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$nil).

Due to the loan receivables arising from corporate
revolving loans increased as at 31 March 2024, there was
significant increase in ECL allowance for the year ended
31 March 2024.

Other receivables and bank balances and cash

In order to minimise the credit risk of other receivables,
the management would make periodic collective and
individual assessment of the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records
and past experience as well as current external
information and adjusted to reflect probability-weighted
forward-looking information, including the default rate
where the relevant debtors operates. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure the expected credit losses for other financial
assets at amortised cost.

As at 31 March 2024, ECL allowance for other receivables
was considered immaterial.

The credit risks on bank balances are considered to be
insignificant because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
34.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade
payables and its financial obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and its relationship with its bankers to
ensure that the Group maintain sufficient reserves of cash and
cash equivalents and committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities as at 31 March 2024 and 2023. When
the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the
liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the
earliest period in which the Group is committed to pay.

34.

BBEREERAAEETE

(%)

M3 RBHESER

RBES AR TIENAEEEXE
TURNREHZ—EREELE
ERAENHEEETNAR - A%
BHEEEESIRNFEAREVBKE
F-UAREREREEE T AL
RBETRAR ANEBENRERRE
HEREMBEBHRHESFR
BT ERZ ISR M B RR
TOEE NERAEEAERK TR
MBS IACEEMREBARKE
ZomMMEBRGAEREEE MU
ENEEMEBREHORDEST

7
Lo

AT 9 4 702024 4F 2 202343 A31H -
AEESRBENFBEOIEMA -
EEEAAREZREEABNRRE
N BHRAGHRAEEAIHENX
NRNEFEHMAR - WEBEBE
ANHEE ASESHERKED
EEAREE AR MR ZFHE -

Total
Within 1year Over1year but undiscounted Carrying
orondemand within5years  Over5years amount amount
MERE BBIFE

REX R5FR BBSF RTRESHE EESE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A318
Trade and other payables BHREMEMRIE 31,261 — — 31,261 31,261
Bank borrowings RITHEE 20214 — — 20214 20214
Lease liabilities HEARE 8,756 4,680 142 13,578 12,549
60,291 4,680 142 65,113 64,084

At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31R
Trade and other payables B RHMERNKIE 21,423 — — 21423 21423
Bank borrowings RITEE 6,464 - — 6,464 6,464
Lease liabilities HEAR 8,502 4747 — 13,249 12,879
36,389 4747 — 41136 40,766
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)

34.3 Liquidity risk (Continved)
The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the bank loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payment computed using contractual
rates. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with the loan
covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of the
loans and does not consider it is probable that the bank will
exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as the Group
continues to meet these requirements. The directors believe that
these bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank loan agreements.

3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

(%)

MI3IRBELSRERE)

TERE|ERITERBEAZEN
FEFEREAMAFFREREE
FRFRMBITEENZIMOMN - ZF
ERBEBEAAHONEAHENF SR
R AEEEREREITERE
MHER Y —EREER LR
RABAEEBRBEETZERE
RITHTIARATRITREANBEEK
B -EFHE ZFRITEES
RBERITERBEANAMAATEE
REMEE -

Within Over 1 year Total
1year or on but within undiscounted Carrying
demand 5years Over 5years amount amount
MER BE1F AR
ZRER  BARER BB5E BeE EELE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FHET
At 31 March 2024 R2024F 37318
Bank borrowings BIEE 12,945 4,298 4,836 2,079 20274
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A318
Bank borrowings RITIEE 6,567 — — 6,567 6,464
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.4 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in the market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank borrowings, loan receivables and lease
liabilities. The Group's loan receivables bearing fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk while the Group's
borrowings bearing variable rates and fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
risk respectively. The exposure to interest rates for the Group's
short term bank deposits is considered immaterial.

The effective interest rates of the Group's loan receivables and
borrowings at the reporting date were as follows:

3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

(%)

34.4 F R E b

MEEBDESBRTANDIAEE
SR RERT SN XE B MK
MERERE AEBEOFNERERE
2RERTEE BREFLEE
BE -REEMNXFENAEERE
WEREREBAERAABEMNEK
[2\ B - % 0F B M B E R K ETE
AEERESHEAEEALERE
RENERBREAABENERR -
75 B 54 %2 B R 17 15 SRR ) R
[ B & R

7 55 (8] ) R 18 B 3R o
MEBFEMLT

2024 2023
20245 20234
Effective Effective

Interest rate HKS$ 000 Interest rate HK$ 000
B A= FET B F E FET

Fixed rate TE 7| &
— Bank borrowings —RITEE — — 3.5-4.0% 402
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 3.2%-8.1% 12,549 3.2-4.7% 12,879
— Loan receivables —ERER 7.5%—48% (14,808)  46.8%—48% (10,708)
(2,259) 2,573

Variable rate FE)F X
— Bank borrowings —iRITEE 3.6%—8.1% 20,274 6.9% 6,062
— Bank overdraft —RITEX 6.9% 1,208 — —
19,223 8,635

QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R B BR 2 & Annual Report G- ¥R 2024



162

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BIEREERAAEBETE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)
34.4 Interest rate risk (Continued) 344 R RE R #E)

As at 31 March 2024, if interest rate for variable rate borrowings
had increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the loss after income tax would have
been HK$90,000 higher/lower (2023: loss after income tax would
have been HK$25,000 higher/lower) and accumulated losses
would have been HK$90,000 (2023: HK$25,000) higher/lower.

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions and represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next
twelve-month period.

The calculations are based on a change in average market
interest rates for each period, and the financial instruments held
at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest
rates. All other variables are held constant. The sensitivity
analysis included in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2023 has been prepared on the same basis.

34.5 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposures to
currency risk arise from its overseas sales and purchases, which
are primarily denominated in Euro (“EUR") and USD. These
are not the functional currencies of the group entities to which
these transactions relate. The Group has bank balances and
cash, bank borrowings and cash surrender value of life insurance
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in EUR and USD.
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MR2024F3A318 » WEEBFEREER
FEEHATES0OEESR  BEFfEH
b S HUR TR BIBRATE R IR 6
1B 0,35 490,000 7T (20234 :
Bk BT 1S 75 18 5 1B A5 48 hn, IRl 425,000
SIL) + BEHEIE S, 490,000
7 7T (20234F © 25,0008 7T) °

ERHBRTTROEE  FIERE
BRRBBLRTEED  WRE
EREHRRTAABEAEA
2 ] 4 2 B 0 T 1 o

ERHEDNRESHBEFTAMIER
REFHURRSHREAHITIF YA
EEHRBRNERMIAEELET - FE
H S BRFBTE - B E2023F3A8
IBLEFEMGAETBHREME K
RESWIHRBEEREZERE -

S5 R B
SNERRTDESBTANRREE
FARRRERERAINEEZTEFHM
KBNERER AKENEER
RAERBESIEERRE =
2T R ETTFE - RTRET
VIZERDA P EEEERNIEE
B  AEBEEEUIINE (E2E
TERET)FHENRTESRERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34.

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continvea)

34.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities,
translated into HK$ at the closing rates, are as follows:

BBEREERAAEETE

(%)

345 ShEEE B (4)
BONESHEN S RMEERAERE

HEREXHKE[/BTHT:

usD EUR RMB
EP BT AR%
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2024 12024538318
Cash surrender value of life insurance A F R F IR & EE 2,023 — —
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b fE WK IE — 29,587 5,073
Bank balances and cash RITEHR RS 61 315 124
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E M EMFKRIE (297) (12,670) (5,689)
Bank borrowings HITEE — (5,655) —
Overall net exposure BRERBAEFEE 1,787 11,577 (492)
As at 31 March 2023 20233 A31H
Cash surrender value of life insurance A 5 1R i B9 7 4938 & B & 1,978 — —
Trade and other receivables B 5 & Hh FE Y SR IE — 28,862 —
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 67 3,178 62
Trade and other payables B 5 & E b e FRIE (1) (11,537) —
Bank borrowings RITIEE — (6,062) —
Overall net exposure RS R b R IE R R 2,044 14,441 62

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group's exposure to foreign
currency risk is considered as minimal. The Group is mainly
exposed to the effects of fluctuation in EUR.

ERBETEITHE  AKREEY
MSNER R BT RE - A%

EXrEmHBITRY

H R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, if EUR had strengthened/weakened by 5%
(2023: 5%) against HK$ with all other variables held constant,
the loss after income tax would have been HK$483,000 (2023:
HK$603,000) lower/higher and accumulated losses would have
been HK$483,000 (2023: HK$603,000) lower/higher.

34.6 Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined
based on the observability and significance of inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly and not using

significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.
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INER B E)

M202453/318 + fWEL T BT £
F+./ T B5% (20234 :5%) - B EF A
HSS8RFETE  BBRAEHE
85 48 #5 R 4, 4% hn483,0007% st (2023
F 1 603,00075 T) + 2T EE B R D
/1% 11483,0007% 7T (20234F : 603,000
BIT) ©
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RERBRARANRIABETE
NEREERABERBERAREE
REN=EER Z=HEERHE
REAENBABBENAIBEREER
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) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) (48)

34.6 Fair value measurements of financial 6 ERMITANAABETE
instruments (Continued) (&)
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the RIE AR RN L EH &

consolidated statement of financial position on a recurring basis
are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

RoanBEAENEREERAR
ERARBERBTRIHAMNT:

At 31 March 2024
Financial assets at FVTPL

— Cash surrender value of life
insurance

At 31 March 2023
Financial assets at FVTPL

— Cash surrender value of life
insurance

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were no
transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose
of measuring fair values categorised in Levels 2 and 3 are
unchanged compared to the previous reporting periods and are

described below.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E E2E EIE @5t
Notes — HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
Wz FET FET FET FET
202438318
BRERRANERE
JIRMEMEE
— AESRBHBELY  (a)
ReEE — 2,023 — 2,023
20233 H31H
BREBEZERANEE
PR S REE
— ASRBHELY (3
ReEE — 1,978 — 1,978

H 220245 K 2023F3ANE IEFE
FBIE - F2B R FIE 2 E AW EE

o

(a)  Cash surrender value of life insurance (a)

The fair value of the cash surrender value of life insurance
was determined based on the valuation provided by the
counterparty financial institution by reference to the
quoted price of the underlying units held.

BRiEEIER FIEAABER
5 T 1 18 4 10 50 1 9 5 HR AR B
WAL R T -

ABRBNBAORESEER
ASRBHEORSEENOR
REEDRESBEESE THM
RENMGE L2 EHMFHERE
BHREMET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H [F F &

35. BUSINESS COMBINATION 35. ¥4 6

Acquisition of Human Vision

In March 2024, the Group had entered into share transfer agreement to
acquire 100% equity interest of Human Vision with an independent third
party. The principal activity of Human Vision is engaged in provision of
software and information technology services. The consideration for
the acquisition was HK$300,000 and the acquisition was completed on
15 March 2024. The acquisition was made with the aims to enhance
business diversification.

A gain on bargain purchase (negative goodwill) of approximately
HK$779,000 was recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2024, as a
result of the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid
and the fair value of the net assets acquired, which are the fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed to their value.

The gain on bargain purchase is attributable to the Group's bargaining
power and ability in negotiating the agreed terms of the transaction with
the vendor.

Details of the aggregate fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Human Vision as at the date of acquisition are as follows:

KETAARE

202438 REEHR—FZBIE = 5]
7 A% 19 8 5 17 3 U T A AR B H9100% AR
e TAAGBNELEBAREEER
BB R o WA (B A300,000% T -
BEER2024F3A1585%/K - WETE
EMEEBZLERE -

HZE2024F3 A3 AILFEMNGEAEZR
Hip 2 U 28R ER 15 49779,000 BT &
KBk = (BEE)  LHBERENRERD
AREERCKWEEEZEG D KET
HAEERBENAABEINAREE
2HEGFEEE-

SEWEY AN EERE B
T 52 55 1 38 6 3K 4 02 8 A 1 0 15 7
5 e

BERATRAGRBNAIERNEE R BBERK
BREEwW AR EERBEFBE N

HK$ 000
FET
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H W FRIE 4,703
Bank balances and cash RITHHB LIRS 19
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H b FEFRIE (3,636)
Tax payable FEAS B IR (7)
Net assets acquired Frif g 5 & = 1,079
Less: cash consideration W RERE (300)
Gain on bargain purchase HEEE W= 7719
Cash consideration paid BENRERE (300)
Bank balances and cash acquired Frik BRI RE S 19
Cash outflow arising on acquisition through business BREBEETIHEEED
combination /e (281)

Since the acquisition date, Human Vision had contributed HK$180,000
and HK$134,000 to the Group’s revenue and loss for the year ended
31 March 2024. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2023,
consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the year ended 31 March
2024 would had been approximately HK$2,159,000 and HK$1,612,000
respectively.
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BUEHBRNUR  TRAAREE SR AX
EEEZ204F3ANALFEN W =S & E
8 & [5£180,0007% 7T 12134,0007%8 7T ° fis Ux BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £2024F3A31H IF F /&

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 36. EXAERE
The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard the AEEEREANBEEAREARASEERFE
ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to provide WEMRE N B ARRTREREAE
returns for shareholders benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain MmEFEDERENE  TESTREEARSE
an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in the long BUARAKRERRER -
term.
The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes AEBEFHEHBAEAREE  THERL
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group BERASIEEFAE AEBRBEFE
monitors its capital structure on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio. HE R REREARNEE - FEEY
The net debt to equity ratio is calculated based on total borrowings B EEREREATNRAEE(RE
(including lease liabilities) divided by the total equity at each reporting HMEAB)BRINBERTE - BERFIH
date. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the BZE  AEBEJREABRBDKREIRSH
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new R  BHTHRG SEEHEHR
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt. BRHEEEUNRDED -
The net debt to equity ratio at each reporting date was: REREBHNFEEHERLE R
2024 2023
2024F 20234F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FEr
Bank borrowings RITEE 20,274 6,494
Lease liabilities HERE 12,549 12,879
Total borrowings RiER 32823 19,373
Total equity MR 35,270 52,713
Net debt to equity ratio FRAHBEDLR 93.1% 36.8%
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements

MBEHRE
ARERBEAENBEENERARKE R
BEMENBRACEREANBRE 07

is set out below:

T

RESULTS E
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20235 0226 20215 20204
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Restated)
(4% £ 7))
Revenue g 64,965 78,194 95,913 120,551 91,103
Cost of sales HER A (23,109) 26,610) (32,391 (46,330) 25,842)
Gross profit E ] 41,856 51,584 63,522 74,221 65,261
Other income Hip e A 1823 9,070 m 4538 155
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSHERX (30,390) 32,090) (33,400) (37,791) (33,652)
Administrative expenses TRAX (25,665) (22.547) (26,775) (18,921) (19.361)
Fair value change on contingent ERIARENAABEEZS
consideration payable — — 3,362 (2,633) (3,385)
Provision) for/Reversal of provision B 5 K E b FE W R IR DA T FE UK
for impairment of trade and other BEROFERE)BE
receivables and loan receivables, net B3 (330) 345 410 (200) (700)
Provision for impairment of goodwill HERBEE (8,694) (14,732) — — —
Finance costs B A (1,673) (799) (849) (1310) (781)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax KRG BLAT (B59R) /R A (17,013) (9,169) 6,981 17,904 7517
Income tax expense PSR % (201) (845) (1,751) (3,345 (2.361)
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable FRAAQAEBEEA
to equity holders of the Company i (ER)aF (17.214) (10,014) 5230 14,559 5216
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20235 20025 1015 20205
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEE 106,306 99,708 114,986 138270 129,128
Total liabilities BER (71,536) (46,995) (62,286) (67,875] (73,583)
Total equity BlER 35,210 52,713 62,680 70,39 55,545
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